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Appendix 4E (Rule 4.3A) 

Preliminary Final Report 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2011 

 

 

RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 
(all comparisons to year ended 30 June 2010) 

 

  2011 2010 up/down % movement 

$ $ 

       

Revenue from ordinary activities 8,248,060 9,747,254 down (15%) 

       

Profit/(Loss) from ordinary activities after tax 

attributable to members 

(846,206) 1,637,615  

 

down (152%) 

       

Net Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to 

members 

(846,206) 1,637,615 down (152%) 

          

 

 

Dividend Information 

No dividend was paid during the year and the Directors do not recommend a dividend be paid in 

respect of the year ended 30 June 2011. 

 
 

    30-Jun-11 30-Jun-10 

      

Net tangible asset backing per share  $0.066 
 

$0.078 
 

     

Earnings per share  ($0.013) $0.025 

        

 

 
 

This report is based on the financial report which has been audited. 



CogState Limited  2011 Financial Report 

Page | II 

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
The directors report the results of CogState Limited (CGS) for the year ended 30 June 2011. 

Operating Results for the Year 
A summary of revenue and results is set out below: 

 First Half 

Jul – Dec 

2010     $ 

Second Half 

Jan – Jun    

2011      $ 

Financial 

Year      

2011     $ 

Financial 

Year      

2010     $ 

     

Recognised sales revenue  3,953,495   4,179,763   8,133,258   9,484,958  

Revenue from principal activities  3,953,495   4,179,763   8,133,258   9,484,958  

     

Cost of sales (1,924,613) (1,828,417) (3,753,030) (3,878,962) 

Gross Profit from principal activities  2,028,882   2,351,346   4,380,228   5,605,996  

 

 

   

Expenses relating to principal activities 

    Employment costs* (1,367,337) (1,298,430) (2,665,767) (2,803,330) 

Administrative expenses (395,807) (248,429) (644,236) (766,886) 

Travel (224,870) (180,002) (404,872) (606,577) 

Other operational costs (436,762) (320,462) (757,224) (858,180) 

Total expenses of principal activities (2,424,776) (2,047,323) (4,472,099) (5,034,973) 

     

Net profit/(loss) from principal activities (395,894)  304,023 (91,871)  571,023  

     

Other revenue/(expenses)     

Finance Revenue  63,609   51,193   114,802   101,389  

Other Revenue  -  -  -  160,907  

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (300,366)  97,094  (203,272) (79,344) 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets (8,490)  - (8,490)  9,318  

Contract termination fees (92,368) (33,872) (126,240) (303,854) 
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivatives  163,067  (107,049)  56,018  (27,152) 

Profit/(loss) from Axon Sports LLC (381,010) (244,632) (625,642) (21,793) 
Finance Costs (18,867) (14,839) (33,706) (30,599) 

Total other revenue/(expenses) (574,425) (252,105) (826,530) (191,128) 

     

Operating profit/(loss) from operations, before 

income tax 

(970,319)  51,918 (918,401)  379,894  

     

Income tax credit/(expense) attributable to 

operating result 

 75,075  (2,880)  72,195   1,257,721  

Profit/(loss) from operations, after income tax  (895,244)  49,038 (846,206)  1,637,615 

*  - Performance-based bonuses expensed in June 2011 have been allocated evenly across the financial year 
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More detail and commentary on the operations and the results from those operations are set out 

below: 
 

Net profit from principal activities - summary 

 

For the 2011 financial year, the Group recorded a decrease in its net result from its principal activity, 
the provision of computerised cognition testing services, of $0.66 million, recording a net loss from 

principal activities of $0.09million, compared to a profit of $0.57 million in FY 2010. 

 

Results – Revenue 

 

The Group recorded a decrease in recognised sales revenue of 14% in the year ended 30 June 2011, 
compared to the 2010 year.   

 

Sales revenues were affected by a stronger $A/$US exchange rate during FY2011, compared to 

FY2010.  Approximately 99% of the Group’s FY2011 sales were denominated in currencies other 
than $A, predominantly the $US (2010: 99%). 

 

The stronger Australian dollar relative to the US dollar has decreased the amount of recognised 
revenue derived from both sales contracts in place at 1 July 2010 as well as those signed throughout 

the year. 

 
Measured in Australian dollars, CogState recorded a 14% decrease in sales to customers compared to 

the previous year.  However, on a constant currency basis, the decrease in revenue was only 3%, as 

shown below: 

 

 
US$ Revenue A$ Revenue 

30 June 2011 full year 8.1m 8.1m 

30 June 2010 full year 8.4m 9.5m 

% decrease in sales revenue (3%) (14%) 
 

Total FY2011 revenue from ordinary activities, which includes sales revenue, interest received and 

grant income was $8,248,060, a decrease of 15% compared to the FY2010 total of $9,747,254.   
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Results – Operating Expenses 

 
Operating expenses for the 2011 financial year decreased by 8% compared to the previous year.  That 

decrease was largely due to a review of all costs undertaken during the year as well as the benefit 

from the reduction in US dollar costs when measured in Australian dollars.  

 
The chart below provides a breakdown of operating expenses by category for FY2011 and FY2010.   

 

 
 

 
 
 

Cost of sales -
Direct staff

30%

Cost of sales -
Other
15%

Employment 
costs - Other

32%

Administrative 
expenses

8%

Travel
5%

Other 
operational costs

10%

Operating expenses by category - FY2011

Cost of sales -
Direct staff

25%

Cost of sales -
Other
18%

Employment 
costs - Other

31%

Administrative 
expenses

9%

Travel
7%

Other 
operational costs

10%

Operating expenses by category - FY2010



CogState Limited  2011 Financial Report 

Page | V 

 

The graph below illustrates the movement of major expense categories from the previous financial 

year. 
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Results – Non-Operating Items 

 
The overall Group profit has been affected by the following significant items outside of the Group’s 

normal operating activities: 

 
 2011 2010 

 $ $ 

   

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (203,272) 

 

(79,345) 

The FY2011 net foreign exchange loss represents the continued strengthening of the $A for 

most of FY2011. 

  

 Contract termination fees expense (126,240) 

 

(303,854) 

The Contract Termination fees were incurred as a consequence of the termination of an 
outsourced project management contract and were payable by CogState to a supplier of 

contract management services.  These fees were incurred outside of the normal operating 

activities of the Company. 

   

Further contract termination fees arising from this matter are expected to be payable from 

future contracted revenue, but are contingent upon services being invoiced by CogState 
Limited to other parties during those financial years under existing sales contracts, which 

CogState Limited currently expects will occur.  

   

The presently-estimated amounts of the future payments are:   

   

Year ending 30 June 2012:            $30,000   
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Results – Cash Flow 

 
CogState’s cash balance, including monies on term deposit, at 30 June 2011 was $3.30 million, an 

increase of $0.21 million (7%) compared to the balance of $3.09 million at 30 June 2010. 
 

A summary of group cash flows is as follows: 

 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

Cash receipts from customers 8,044,931 10,158,721 

   Net cash flows from operating activities 510,188 1,408,847 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (240,034) (1,394,657) 

Net cash flows from financing activities 30,688 106,120 

Foreign exchange movements (86,716) (58,269) 

   Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 214,126 62,041 

   Opening cash 3,092,437 3,030,395 

   Closing cash 3,306,563 3,092,437 

 

 

During the 2011 financial year, CogState was able to record an increase in the value of sales contracts 

signed. Notwithstanding this fact, when measured in Australian dollars, CogState recorded a decrease 
in sales revenue and therefore also a reduction in cash receipts from customers. Cash receipts from 

customers during the year were $8.0 million, 21% less than the previous year. 

 
CogState was able to reduce cash outflows from operations by 15% to $7.53 million through rigorous 

cost reduction strategies as well as reduced costs from US operations reflecting the currency impact 

on US costs. 

 
In addition, CogState was able to reduce its investment in computer hardware for use in clinical trials. 

During the 2011 financial year, CogState spent $0.8 million less on computer hardware than during 

the previous financial year which was possible because hardware inventory on hand was largely 
sufficient to meet the needs for clinical trials commenced during the year.  

 

CogState made an investment of $0.25 million into Axon Sports LLC during the 2011 financial year. 
This investment was a reduction on the $0.5 million investment made during the 2010 financial year.  

 

The reduction in cash flows from financing activities reflects the fact that, apart from cash inflows 

resulting from capital issued under the CogState employee option plan, no capital was raised by 
CogState during the 2011 financial year.   
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 
Your directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2011. 

 

Directors 

The names and details of the company’s directors in office during the financial year and until 

the date of this report are as follows.  Directors were in office for the entire period unless 
otherwise stated. 

 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 

 
Mr Martyn Myer AO, BE, MESc, MSM (Non-Executive Chairman) 

Mr Myer is Chairman of CogState Limited. Mr Myer also chairs the Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee and the Audit and Compliance Committee. Until 30 June 2007 he 
was President of the Howard Florey Institute of Experimental Physiology and Medicine and 

was a director of the Florey Neuroscience Institutes until May 2010.  At the Howard Florey 

Institute he participated in the transition of the Institute’s research focus towards diagnostic 

and therapeutic neuroscience, including a focus on degenerative brain diseases.  Mr Myer was 
appointed to the Council of the University of Melbourne in February 2010.  Mr Myer 

obtained his Master of Science in Management at MIT in Boston, and his Master of 

Engineering Science at Monash University, Melbourne. During the last three years, Mr Myer 
has also served as a director of the following listed companies: 

 Diversified United Investment Ltd - Appointed: 23 September 1991  

 SP Australia Networks (Transmission) Ltd-  Appointed: 26 October 2005 Retired 13 
July 2010 

 SP Australia Networks (Distribution) Ltd-  Appointed: 9 September 2005 Retired 13 

July 2010 

 SP Australia Networks (Finance) Trust -  Appointed: 9 September 2005 Retired 13 
July 2010 

 

Brad O'Connor B.Bus (Director and Chief Executive Officer) 
 

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer since December 2005. 

 
Brad has responsibility for CogState’s overall strategic direction and day-to-day operations as 

well as development of expansion opportunities outside of the core clinical trials business.  

Brad is also a director of CogState Inc., CogState Sport Inc., and Axon Sports LLC 

(CogState’s joint venture in the North American sporting market).   
 

Prior to taking the position of CEO at CogState, Brad joined CogState as Chief Financial 

Officer and Company Secretary in May 2004.  Prior to that, Brad held senior positions at 
Spherion Group, Australian Wine Exchange and PricewaterhouseCoopers.  Brad is a 

chartered accountant who holds a Bachelor of Business degree. 
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Mr David Simpson BA (Honours) FAICD (Non-Executive Director)  
Mr Simpson is an independent non-executive Director for CogState Ltd and Axon Sports. He 

sits on the Audit and Compliance Committee as well as the Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee.  He is the Chairman for Cool Australia, an environmental charity, and also works 

as a business consultant and executive coach. The bulk of his previous career was in the 
multinational advertising industry holding a series of leadership roles for Omnicom and WPP 

in North America, Asia and South Africa as well as Australia. 

 
Mr Richard van den Broek CFA (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr van den Broek is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 26 August 2010.  

He sits on the Audit and Compliance Committee as well as the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. Mr van den Broek is founder and managing partner of HSMR Advisors LLC, a 

U.S. based fund manager with an investment emphasis on small and mid-cap biotech public 

companies.   

From 2000 through 2003 he was a Partner at Cooper Hill Partners, LLC, an investment fund 
focused on the healthcare sector. Prior to that Mr. van den Broek had a ten year career as a 

biotech analyst, starting at Oppenheimer & Co., then Merrill Lynch, and finally at Hambrecht 

& Quist.  During the last three years, Mr van den Broek has also served as a director of the 
following listed companies: 

 Pharmaxis Ltd - Appointed: April 2009 

 

Mr Richard Morgan, CBiol.MI.Biol, Dip RC Path (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Morgan was an independent non-executive Director until he retired from the Board of 

Directors on 30 June 2011.  He sat on the Audit and Compliance Committee as well as the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  Mr Morgan has over 25 years’ experience as senior 

R&D manager with Wellcome, GlaxoWellcome and GlaxoSmithKline.  Following a period as 
Interim Head of Preclinical for PowderJect Pharmaceuticals, Mr Morgan established his own 

consultancy company providing advice on Toxicology and Preclinical Discovery and 

Development to client companies in the UK and Australia.  Mr Morgan is also a principal of 
Medicines Development Limited and on the advisory boards of a number of Australian 

biotechnology companies. Mr Morgan holds C.Biol. M.I.Biol (Laboratory Animal Pathology) 

from the Institute of Biology and Dip.RCPath (Toxicology) from the Royal College of 

Pathologists. 

 

Dr Michael Wooldridge MBBS, MBA, BSc (Non-Executive Director) 
Dr Wooldridge was an independent non-executive Director until he retired from the Board of 

Directors on 30 June 2011.  He sat on the Audit and Compliance Committee as well as the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee. Dr Wooldridge is currently Chairman of 

Neurosciences Australia, Prime Retirement & Aged Care Property Trust and the Cooperative 
Research Centre in Oral Health Science.  He is also Associate Professor at the University of 

Melbourne. During the last three years, Dr Wooldridge has also served as a director of the 

following listed companies: 

 Dia-B Tech Ltd - Appointed: 22nd August 2003; Resigned 9 November 2009 

 Prime Retirement & Aged Care Property Trust - Appointed: 1
st
 October 2007 

 Australian Pharmaceutical Industries Limited - Appointed: 1 February 2006 
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Company Secretary 

 
Claire Newstead-Sinclair BBus, CA  

Claire was appointed as Company Secretary and Finance Manager on 26 August 2010, prior 

to which she worked as a Finance Manager for OAMPS Insurance Brokers, part of the 

Wesfarmers Group. Claire studied accountancy at Monash University and was admitted as a 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in April 2004. 

 

 

 

Interests in the shares and options of the company 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of CogState 
Limited were: 

 

  

Number of 

Ordinary 

Shares 

Number of 

Options over 

Ordinary 

Shares 

Mr Martyn Myer 13,938,868 1,506,674 

Mr Brad O'Connor 2,457,825 2,420,000 

Mr David Simpson 607,538 365,000 
Mr R van den Broek 3,320,000 100,000 

 

 
 

Principal activities 

 
The principal activities of CogState Limited during the year were the sale of computerised 

tests of cognition and associated services including scientific consultancy, project 

management, data management, statistical analysis and reporting.  Principally these products 

and services were sold to pharmaceutical, biotechnology, nutraceutical and functional food 
companies to quantify the effect of drugs or other interventions on human subjects 

participating in clinical trials.   Other markets for the same technology are sports (where the 

tests are used to help doctors to determine when an athlete has recovered from a concussive 
brain injury) and dementia screening (where the tests are used by doctors to monitor for 

cognitive decline over time). 
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Operating and financial review 

 

Group Overview 

 

CogState Limited (CogState) was founded in 1999 and listed on the Australian Stock 

Exchange in February 2004.   
 

CogState has two primary offices, an Australian office based in Melbourne, Victoria and a 

USA office based in New Haven, Connecticut.  Staff who are not based in either of these 
offices work remotely, including CogState Principal Scientist, Dr John Harrison, who is based 

in the United Kingdom. 

 
In July 2006, CogState Limited incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, CogState Inc.  

CogState Inc. employs all USA based staff. 

 

In May 2011, CogState Inc. incorporated CogState Sport Inc. for investment in Axon Sports 
LLC. 

 

CogState Limited, CogState Inc., and CogState Sport Inc. form the Group. 
 

CogState is focussed solely on the development and commercialisation of rapid computerised 

tests of cognition. To date, the major application of CogState’s technologies has been in 
clinical testing. In this setting, a pharmaceutical company or similar organisation will contract 

to utilise CogState’s tests to determine the effect on cognition of their drug, device or other 

intervention. 

 
The tests provide rapid, sensitive and valid measurement of distinct cognitive functions. The 

tests use novel visual and verbal stimuli to ensure assessment is culture-neutral and not 

limited by a subject's level of education. All CogState tests are designed for repeated 
administration with minimal practice or learning effects, making them ideal for use in clinical 

research trials.   
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Operating Results for the Year 

 
A summary of consolidated revenue and results is set out below: 

 First Half 

Jul – Dec 

2010     $ 

Second Half 

Jan – Jun    

2011      $ 

Financial 

Year      

2011     $ 

Financial 

Year      

2010     $ 

     

Recognised sales revenue  3,953,495   4,179,763   8,133,258   9,484,958  

Revenue from principal activities  3,953,495   4,179,763   8,133,258   9,484,958  

     

Cost of sales (1,924,613) (1,828,417) (3,753,030) (3,878,962) 

Gross Profit from principal activities  2,028,882   2,351,346   4,380,228   5,605,996  

 

 

   

Expenses relating to principal activities 

    Employment costs* (1,367,337) (1,298,430) (2,665,767) (2,803,330) 

Administrative expenses (395,807) (248,429) (644,236) (766,886) 

Travel (224,870) (180,002) (404,872) (606,577) 

Other operational costs (436,762) (320,462) (757,224) (858,180) 

Total expenses of principal activities (2,424,776) (2,047,323) (4,472,099) (5,034,973) 

     

Net profit/(loss) from principal activities (395,894)  304,023 (91,871)  571,023  

     

Other revenue/(expenses)     

Finance Revenue  63,609   51,193   114,802   101,389  

Other Revenue  -  -  -  160,907  

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) (300,366)  97,094  (203,272) (79,344) 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets (8,490)  - (8,490)  9,318  

Contract termination fees (92,368) (33,872) (126,240) (303,854) 
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivatives  163,067  (107,049)  56,018  (27,152) 

Profit/(loss) from Axon Sports LLC (381,010) (244,632) (625,642) (21,793) 
Finance Costs (18,867) (14,839) (33,706) (30,599) 

Total other revenue/(expenses) (574,425) (252,105) (826,530) (191,128) 

     

Operating profit/(loss) from operations, before 

income tax 

(970,319)  51,918 (918,401)  379,894  

     

Income tax credit/(expense) attributable to 

operating result 

 75,075  (2,880)  72,195   1,257,721  

Profit/(loss) from operations, after income tax  (895,244)  49,038 (846,206)  1,637,615 

*  - Performance-based bonuses expensed in June 2011 have been allocated evenly across the financial year 
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More detail and commentary on the operations and the results from those operations are set 

out below: 

 

Revenue 

Recognised consolidated sales revenue was derived from the following areas: 

 

 First Half 

Jul – Dec 

2010     $ 

Second Half 

Jan – Jun    

2011  $ 

Financial 

Year      

2011     $ 

Financial 

Year      

2010     $ 

     

CogState Clinical Trials  3,456,602   3,849,147   7,305,749   8,569,705  

CogState Sport  76,962   76,359   153,321   200,230  
CogState Research  18,399   22,319   40,718   20,414  

Expense recoveries  401,532   231,938  633,470 694,609 

Recognised sales revenue  3,953,495   4,179,763  8,133,258 9,484,958 

 

 

The Group recorded a decrease in recognised sales revenue of 14%.  Revenue from clinical 
trials for the second half of FY2011 increased, reflecting a greater number of sales contracts 

signed in the second half of FY2011 year, despite the weaker US dollar rate.   

 

 

 

Shareholder Returns 

 

  2011 2010 

Basic Earnings Per Share (cents) (1.27) 2.48 

Return on assets % (10.8) 18.9 
 

 

Dividends 
 

No dividend was paid during the year and the Directors do not recommend a dividend be paid 

in respect of the year ended 30 June 2011. 
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Review of Financial Condition 
 
Capital Structure 

 

The Group has no debt and has sufficient working capital with which to fund its operations. 

 
The only capital issued during the year was in relation to employees exercising options 

allocated under the CogState Employee Share Plan. 

 

Cash Flows from Operations 

 

 First Half 

Jul – Dec 

2010     $ 

Second Half 

Jan – Jun    

2011      $ 

Financial 

Year      

2011     $ 

Financial 

Year      

2010     $ 

     

Cash receipts from 

customers 
3,583,801 4,461,130 8,044,931 10,158,721 

Net operating cash 

inflows/(outflows) (497,619) 1,007,807 510,188 1,408,847 

 

 

Net cash inflow from operating activities for the year to 30 June 2011 was $0.51 million, a 
decrease of $0.90 million on the corresponding prior year’s net inflow of $1.4m.   

 

The net operating cashflow compared to the previous financial year reflects that when 
measured in Australian dollars, CogState recorded a decrease in sales revenue and therefore 

also a reduction in cash receipts. 
 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

The Group has $3.30min cash and cash investments at 30 June 2011 (2010: $3.09m). 
 

The Group has sufficient capital resources to fund operations. 

 

Risk Management 

 

The Group has established an Audit and Compliance Committee which is focussed on: 
 

 Monitoring corporate risk and implementing controls to manage those risks; 

 The development of risk action plans and the activities of management in monitoring 

the risks identified; 

 Continuous review of risk management practices within the Group. 

 

The Board has put in place the following mechanisms to ensure that management’s objectives 
and activities are aligned with the risks identified: 

 

 Implementation of Board approved operating plans and budgets and Board 

monitoring of progress against these budgets; and 
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 Implementation of Board approved policy and procedures manual to ensure that 

management can act within defined parameters and risk levels before needing to seek 

Board approval. 
 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

 
With the exception of any matters referred to in this Directors report, or the financial 

statements and notes of the Consolidated Entity accompanying this report, there were no 

significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity during the 2011 financial 

year. 

 

 

Significant Events after the Balance Date 
 

On 22 August 2011, CogState Limited, via its wholly owned subsidiary, CogState Sport Inc, 

entered into a joint arrangement with Quixote Investments LLC whereby both parties agreed 

to transfer to Axon Sports LLC certain Intellectual Property related to Axon Potential in 
exchange for additional units in Axon Sports.  CogState received an additional 288,000 units 

with a value of US$144,000 and Quixote Investments LLC received an additional 488,000 

units with a value of US$244,000. No change occurred to the ownership percentage of Axon 
Sports LLC as a result of this transaction. 

 

On 22 August 2011, CogState Limited, via its wholly owned subsidiary, CogState Sport Inc, 
acquired Quixote Investments LLC’s 50% interest in Axon Sports LLC, taking CogState’s 

total interest to 100%. 

 

The total consideration transferred for this transaction was estimated to be $2,537,022, 
comprised of an issue of equity instruments and the fair value on acquisition date of the 50% 

of Axon Sports LLC already owned by CogState.  The Group issued 7,461,831 ordinary 

shares with a fair value of $0.17 each, based on the quoted price of the shares of CogState Ltd 
on the date of exchange. 

 

The attributable costs of the issuance of ordinary shares will be charged directly to equity as 

negative contributed equity. 
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The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Axon Sports LLC as of the date of 

acquisition were: 
 

 
 Fair value  

 
 at acquisition   

 
 date*  

  Cash and cash equivalents          194,913 

Trade receivables (book and fair value)   20,274  

Prepayments             5,946  

Plant and equipment           77,553  

 

        298,687  

  

Trade payables 

               

(31,710)  

Other payables          (43,608)  

Deferred compensation         (52,395)  

 

      (127,712) 

  Provisional fair value of identifiable net assets          170,975 

Goodwill / identifiable intangibles arising on acquisition       2,366,047  

 
      2,537,023  

  Acquisition-date fair-value of consideration transferred 

 Share issued, at fair value, for 50% interest acquired on 22 August 
2011 

           
1,268,511  

Acquisition-date fair-value of initial 50% interest       1,268,511  

Consideration transferred        2,537,023  

 
* The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired as part of the business 

combination have been determined provisionally and are based upon the best information 

available as initial accounting was not complete as at the reporting date. The company 
acquired the intellectual property associated with online sports concussion testing and Axon 

Potential. The allocation between goodwill and intellectual property of the excess 

consideration paid over the tangible identifiable net assets listed above has not been 

completed due to the close proximity of this transaction to reporting date. 
 

Key factors contributing to goodwill being recognised upon acquisition include:  

-  The 100% control of Axon Sports will allow CogState to utilise the Axon Sports online 
testing and associated materials to pursue the sports concussion markets outside North 

America.   

 
-  100% control of Axon Sports means that CogState is in a position to take full advantage of 

current opportunities being discussed with large pharmaceutical companies with the aim of 

making CogState technology available to clinicians as a low cost, non-invasive, screening 

tool that could be provided within a clinician’s surgery, in numerous indications, including 
sports concussions. 
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Additional disclosures which were not practical due to the proximity of transaction date to 

reporting date: 
 Whether any component of the reacquired rights represents an “effective settlement” 

of Axon Sports’ licensing arrangement for use of the CogState name / technology / IP 

in the United States of America 

 As the amount of the indicative consideration may be subject to change (as an 
effective settlement) the amount of goodwill / intangibles may change  

 The consideration will also potentially change the amount of gain on sale of the Axon 

Sport’s equity accounted balance 
 Determination of specific transaction costs 

 Finalise the income tax implications of the business combination. 

 

Likely Development and Expected Results 

 

CogState will focus on three markets for its technology throughout the 2012 financial year: 

1. Clinical Trials 
2. Sport 

3. Dementia Screening 

 
In Clinical Trials, CogState will seek to improve margins and profitability. 

 

In Sport, CogState will continue to support the sales efforts of Axon Sports. 
 

In Dementia screening, CogState will continue to advance the scientific validity of the 

CogState technology as a screening tool whilst pursuing opportunities to commercialise the 

technology. 
 

The results of the Group, revenue and profit, will continue to be impacted by movements in 

the Australian dollar, relative to the USA dollar. In 2011, the Australian dollar continued to 
strengthen against the US dollar. 

 

It is expected that the Group will improve its result for the 2012 financial year, subject to the 

impact of further strengthening of the Australian dollar. 
 

Unissued shares  

 
As at the date of this report, there were 9,201,470 unissued ordinary shares under options. 

Refer to the remuneration report and Note 26 of the financial report for further details of the 

options outstanding. 
 

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue 

of the company or any related body corporate. 

 

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 

 

During the financial year, the Group has paid premiums in respect of a contract insuring all 
the directors of CogState Limited against costs incurred in defending proceedings for conduct 

involving any wrongful act by a director.  The total amount of the insurance contract premium 

paid was $32,312 (2010: $32,098). 

 

Environmental Regulation 

 

Given the nature of its business, CogState is not subject to environmental regulation. 
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Directors’ Meetings 
 

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of Committees of directors) held 

during the year and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were as follows: 

 
  Directors’ Meetings Meetings of Committees 

  Attended Eligible 

To 

Attend 

Audit& Compliance Remuneration& 

Nomination 

      Attended Eligible 

To Attend 

Attended Eligible To 

Attend 

Number of meetings held:   8   3   1 

              

Number of meetings attended:             

M Myer 8 8 3 3 1 1 

B O’Connor  8 8         

R Morgan (retired 30 June 2011) 8 8 3 3 0 0 

D Simpson 7 8 1 3 1 1 

M Wooldridge (retired 30 June 

2011) 

7 8 2 3 0 0 

R van den Broek (appointed 26 

August 2010) 

6 6 2 2 1 1 

 

Committee Membership 

 
As at the date of this report, the company had an Audit and Compliance Committee, and a 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee. Members acting on the committees during the 

year were: 

 

Audit & Compliance Remuneration & 

Nomination 
M Myer (c) M Myer(c) 

D Simpson D Simpson  

R van den Broek (appointed 

26 August 2010) 

R van den Broek (appointed 

26 August 2010) 

M Wooldridge (retired 30 

June 2011) 

M Wooldridge (retired 30 

June 2011) 

R Morgan (retired 30 June 

2011) 

R Morgan (retired 30 June 

2011) 

 

(c) Designates the chairman of the committee. 

 

Auditor Independence  

 

The directors received the following declaration from the auditor of CogState 

Limited. 
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Remuneration Report (Audited) 
 
This remuneration report outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements of 

the Company and the Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 

2001 and its Regulations. For the purposes of this report, key management personnel (KMP) 

of the Group are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or 

indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company, 

and includes the five executives in the Parent and the Group receiving the highest 
remuneration. 

 

For the purposes of this report, the term 'executive' encompasses the chief executive, senior 
executives, general managers and secretaries of the Parent and the Group. 

 

Remuneration Philosophy 

The performance of CogState is dependent upon the quality of its directors and senior 
executives.  Given the developing nature of CogState, the remuneration policy must reflect 

the need to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives. 

 
To this end, the Group embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework: 

 

 Provide competitive rewards to attract high quality executives; 
 Provide an equity incentive for senior executives that will highly motivate executives and 

align their motivation with creation of shareholder value; and 

 Ensure that rewards are referenced to relevant employment market conditions. 

 

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the company is responsible for 

determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors and the executive 
team.   

 

The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and the amount of 

remuneration of directors and executives on a periodic basis by reference to relevant 
employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder 

benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and executive team. 

 

Remuneration Structure 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive 

directors and senior manager remuneration is separate and distinct. 
 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration 

 

Objective 
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration ata level which provides the company with the 

ability to attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is 

acceptable to shareholders. 
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Structure 

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-
executive directors shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting.  An amount 

not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the directors as agreed.  The 

latest determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 21
st
 October 2009 when 

shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $350,000 per year. 
 

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner 

in which it is apportioned amongst directors is reviewed periodically.  The Board considers 
fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual 

review process. 

 
Each director receives a fee for being a director of the company. Non-executive directors are 

encouraged to hold shares in the company (purchased by the director on market).  It is 

considered good governance for directors to have a stake in the company.  The non-executive 

directors of the company also participate in the employee share option plan. 
 

The remuneration of non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2011 is detailed later 

in this report. 
 

Senior manager and executive director remuneration 

 
Objective 

The company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate 

with their position and responsibilities within the company.  The objective of the 

remuneration policy is to: 
 Reward executives for company and individual performance; 

 Align the interests of the executives with those of the shareholders; and 

 Ensure that total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 
 

Structure 

In determining the level and make-up of executive remuneration, the Remuneration 

Committee has reviewed reports detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable 
roles. 

 

Remuneration consists of fixed and variable elements, with the variable component broken 
down further into short and long term incentives. 

 

Fixed Remuneration 

 

Objective 

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is 

both appropriate to the position and is competitive in the market. 
 

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and the process 

consists of a review of company-wide and individual performance, relevant comparative 
remuneration from external sources and relevant comparison between roles within the 

company.  As noted above, the Committee draws on relevant industry remuneration data. 

 
Structure 

Executives receive their fixed remuneration as a salary payment.   
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Variable Remuneration – Short Term Incentive (STI) 

 
Objective 

The objective of the STI is to link the achievement of the company’s operational targets with 

the remuneration received by the executives charged with meeting those targets.   

 
Structure 

Actual STI payments granted to each executive depend on the extent to which specific targets 

set at the beginning of the financial year are met. The targets consist of a number of key 
performance indicators (KPIs) covering both financial and non-financial, corporate and 

individual measures of performance. Typically included are measures such as sales growth, 

process improvement, product development and leadership/team contribution. These 
measures were chosen as they represent the key drivers for the short term success of the 

business and provide a framework for delivering long term value. 

 

The aggregate pool of potential STI payments has been approved by the Remuneration 
Committee.   

 

Variable Remuneration – Long Term Incentives (LTI) 
 

Objective 

The objective of the LTI plan is to reward executives in a manner which aligns this element of 
remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth. 

 

Structure 

LTI grants to executives are delivered in the form of options.   
 

The options awarded may be subject to performance specific hurdles.  Historically, the 

options have not been subject to performance hurdles because of the changing nature of the 
company and its changing focus during its formative years.  However, options issued to Brad 

O'Connor, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, which were approved by 

shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting of members on 22 February 2006, had the 

following additional vesting conditions attached: 
 

50% of the options can be exercised by Mr O’Connor when the share price of the 

Company's ordinary shares reaches $0.30 and for a period of at least one calendar 
month after the share price has reached $0.30, the average closing price of the 

Company’s ordinary shares is at least $0.30 and the remaining 50% of the options can 

be exercised when the share price of the Company's ordinary shares reaches $0.40 
and for a period of at least one calendar month after the share price has reached 

$0.40, the average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares is at least $0.40. 

 

The above performance hurdles have been attached to these options to promote activities 
within the company to increase shareholder value. 

 

Under normal conditions, the options vest with the executive over a period of three years 
from the date of issue.  One third of the options vest on the first anniversary of the issue of the 

options and then one thirty-sixth (1/36) vests every month for the next twenty-four months, 

such that all options have vested after 3 years. 
 

Should an executive cease to be employed by CogState then all options which have not yet 

vested will automatically lapse.  Any options that have vested with the executive must be 

exercised within 30 days of ceasing employment or those vested options will also lapse. 
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The exercise price of the options is determined by the prevailing market price of CogState 

shares as at the date of the issue. 
 

Historically the options have had an exercise period of ten years from the date of issue, 

however all issues of options under the employee option plan since June 2009 have an 

exercise period of five years, and at any time during that period, the executive can decide to 
exercise any vested options, provided the executive does not cease employment during that 

time. 

 

Group Performance 

 

The graph below shows the performance of the Group (as measured by the Company’s share 
price) since listing in February 2004. 
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Employment Contracts 

 
Chief Executive Officer 

 

The CEO, Brad O’Connor, is employed under contract.  The current employment contract 

was entered into on 1 December 2005 and amendments made, as necessary, since that date. 
Under the terms of the contract: 

 

 Mr O’Connor receives fixed remuneration and may be eligible for short term cash 
incentives based on specified financial results for the company.  

 Either party may terminate the contract by providing twelve months written notice. 

 Upon termination, any Employee Share Options that are vested may be exercised by Mr 
O’Connor within a 30 day period.  Any options that are un-vested, or any vested options 

not exercised within 30 days of termination of the employment contract, will be forfeited. 

 The company may terminate the contract immediately upon the event of certain specified 

acts or omissions by Mr O’Connor. 
 

Other Executives (standard contracts) 

 
All executives have rolling contracts. The Company may terminate the executive's 

employment agreement by providing written notice or providing payment in lieu of the notice 

period (based on the fixed component of the executive's remuneration). The notice period is 
determined by the employment agreement for each executive. On termination on notice by the 

Company, any LTI options that have vested or that will vest during the notice period will be 

released. LTI options that have not yet vested will be forfeited. The Company may terminate 

the contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has occurred. Where termination 
with cause occurs the executive is only entitled to that portion of remuneration that is fixed, 

and only up to the date of termination. On termination with cause any unvested options will 

immediately be forfeited. 
 

Details of Key Management Personnel (including the five highest paid executives of the 

Company and the Group) 

 

Directors 

Mr M Myer    Chairman (non-executive) 

Mr B O’Connor   Chief Executive Officer (and Executive Director) 
Mr R Morgan 

(retired 30 June 2011)  Director (non-executive) 

Dr M Wooldridge 
(retired 30 June 2011)  Director (non-executive) 

Mr D Simpson   Director (non-executive) 

Mr R van den Broek 

(appointed 26 August 2010) Director (non-executive) 
 

 

Specified Executives 
Prof P Maruff   Chief Scientific Officer 

Assoc Prof David Darby 

(resigned 1 July 2011)  Chief Medical Officer 
Dr John Harrison  Principal Scientist  

Sophie Egholm   Head of Operations 
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Table 1: Directors' & Key Management remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
 Short-term Post-Employment 

Long Term 

Benefit 

 Share 

based 

payment 

 

 Total  

% of 

remuneration 

that is 

performance 

related 

 
 Salary & Fees  Non-Monetary  Cash Bonus  Super'n  

 Retirement 

Benefits  

Long service 

leave  Options  

Termination 
benefits 

 

 

 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Directors 

       

  

 

M Myer 

               

70,642  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                 

6,358  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

16,189  

                               

-  

                             

93,189                       -  

B O’Connor* 

             

262,901  

 

               

69,525  

               

15,199  

                         

-  

                 

5,908  

               

46,009  

                               

-  

                           

399,542                17.40  

R Morgan  

               

39,000  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

14,498  

                               

-  

                             

53,498                       -  

M Wooldridge 

               

35,780  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                 

3,220  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

14,498  

                               

-  

                             

53,498                       -  

D Simpson 

                    

251  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

49,999  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

14,498  

                               

-  

                             

64,748                       -  

R van den Broek 

               

33,475  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                 

3,384  

                               

-  

                             

36,859                       -  

        

 

  Key Management 

      

 

  

P Maruff 

             

234,427  

               

23,347  

               

44,119  

               

15,199  

                         

-  

                 

6,136  

               

37,336  

                               

-  

                           

360,563                12.24  

J Harrison 

             

147,955  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

31,875  

                               

-  

                           

179,830                       -  

S Egholm 

             

170,126  

 

               

33,034  

                 

6,552  

 

                         

-  

               

36,434  

                               

-  

                           

246,146                13.42  

D Darby** 

             

225,539  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

20,599  

                         

-  

                 

4,180  

               

20,696  

                    

127,984  

                           

398,998                       -  

        

 

  Total 1,220,095 23,347 146,678 117,126 - 16,224 235,417 127,984 1,886,871 
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 Table 2: Directors' & Key Management remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
      

 

 

 

 

 
 Short-term  Post Employment  

Long Term 

Benefit 

 Share 

based 

payment 

 

 Total  

% of 

remuneration 

that is 

performance 

related 

 
 Salary & Fees  Non-Monetary  Cash Bonus  Super'n  

 Retirement 
Benefits  

Long service 
leave  Options  

Termination 

benefits 

  

 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Directors 

       

  

 

M Myer 

               

70,642  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                 

6,358  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

12,806  

                               

-  

                      

89,806  

                                      

-  
B 

O’Connor* 

             

253,126  

                 

2,413  

               

81,000  

               

14,461  

                         

-  

               

30,916  

               

51,553  

                               

-  

                    

433,469  

                               

18.69  

R Morgan  

               

39,000  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

12,806  

                               

-  

                      

51,806  

                                      

-  

M 

Wooldridge 

               

35,780  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                 

3,220  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

12,806  

                               

-  

                      

51,806  

                                      

-  

D Simpson 

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

39,000  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

12,806  

                               

-  

                      

51,806  

                                      

-  

        

 

  Key Management 

      

 

  

P Maruff 

             

229,006  

               

23,346  

               

40,000  

               

14,461  

                         

-  

               

42,781  

               

42,165  - 

                    

391,760  

                               

10.21  

J Harrison 

             

178,494  

                         

-  

               

25,297  

                         

-  

                         

-  

                         

-  

               

43,763  

                               

-  

                    

247,554  

                               

10.22  

S Egholm 

             

198,843  

 

               

29,195  

                 

6,552  - 

                         

-  

               

34,323  

                               

-  

                    

268,913  

                               

10.86  

D Darby** 
             

225,539  
                         

-  
                         

-  
               

14,461  
                         

-  
               

44,685  
               

27,472  
                               

-  
                    

312,157  
                                      

-  

        

 

  Total 1,230,430 25,759 175,492 98,514 - 118,382 250,499 - 1,899,076 
 *The percentage of performance related payment reflects those share based payments that have performance criteria attached 

** David Darby resigned from the Company on 1 July 2011. 
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Remuneration Options: Granted and Vested During the Year 

 

During the financial year, options were granted as equity compensation benefits to certain key management personnel as disclosed in table 3.  The options were issued 
for nil consideration.  Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the company at the specified exercise price.  One third of the 

options may be exercised after one year.  The remaining two thirds can be exercised after the following two years.  The expiry date is at the discretion of the board 

and may vary, historically options expire after ten years, however since June 2009 options issued expire after five years. 
 

Options are calculated at fair value using a binomial option pricing model, which takes account of factors including the option exercise price, the current level and 

volatility of the underlying share price, the risk free interest rate, expected dividends on the underlying share, current market price of the underlying share and the 

expected life of the option. 
 

For further details relating to the options, refer to note 26. 
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Table 3 Terms and Conditions for each grant and Options granted and exercised as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

  

Vested 

number 

Granted 

Number Grant date 

Fair value 
per option 

grant date 

Exercise 
price per 

share $ 

Final 
Vesting 

Date 

First 
Exercise 

Date 

Last 
Exercise 

Date 

Value of 

Options 

granted 

during 
the year 

$ 

 Value of 

options 

exercised 
during the 

year $  

 Value of 

options 

lapsed 

during 
the year 

$  

  

           Directors 

             

           Martyn Myer  - 100,000 26-Oct-10 $0.1500 $0.2500 26-Oct-13 26-Oct-11 26-Oct-15 15,000  - 112,289 

Richard Morgan  - 50,000 26-Oct-10 $0.1500 $0.2500 26-Oct-13 26-Oct-11 26-Oct-15 7,500  - 28,000 

Michael Wooldridge  - 50,000 26-Oct-10 $0.1500 $0.2500 26-Oct-13 26-Oct-11 26-Oct-15 7,500  - 28,000 

Brad O'Connor  - 150,000 26-Oct-10 $0.1500 $0.2500 26-Oct-13 26-Oct-11 26-Oct-15 22,500  -  - 

David Simpson  - 50,000 26-Oct-10 $0.1500 $0.2500 26-Oct-13 26-Oct-11 26-Oct-15 7,500  - 28,000 

Richard van den Broek  - 100,000 26-Oct-10 $0.1500 $0.2500 26-Oct-13 26-Oct-11 26-Oct-15 15,000  -  - 

  
           TOTAL 

 

500,000 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
The Board of Directors of CogState Limited is responsible for the corporate governance 

framework of the Group having regard to the ASX Corporate Governance Council published 
guidelines as well as its corporate governance principles and recommendations 

(Recommendations). The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of CogState 

Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are 
accountable. 

 

The table below summarises the Company's compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance 

Council's Recommendations. 
 

Recommendation Comply 

Yes/No 

Reference/ 

Explanation 

Principle 1 - Lay solid foundations for management and oversight   

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board and those 

delegated to senior executives and disclose those functions. 

Yes Page 28 

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of 
senior executives. 

Yes Page 30 

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to 

reporting on Principle 1. 

Yes Website; Annual 

Report 

Principle 2 - Structure the board to add value   

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors. Yes Page 29 

2.2 The chair should be an independent director. No Page 29 

 2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by 

the same individual. 

Yes Page 29 

2.4 The board should establish a Nomination committee. Yes Page 28 

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of 

the board, its committees and individual directors. 

Yes Page 30 

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to 

reporting on Principle 2. 

Yes Website; Annual 

Report 

Principle 3 - Promote ethical and responsible decision-making   

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a 

summary of the code as to: 

Yes Internal Employee 

Handbook 

 The practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company's integrity. Yes Internal Employee 

Handbook 

 The practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the 

reasonable expectations of their stakeholders. 

Yes Internal Employee 

Handbook 

 The responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 

investigating reports of unethical practices. 

Yes Internal Employee 

Handbook 

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning trading in company 

securities by directors, senior executives and employees, and disclose the 
policy or a summary of that policy. 

Yes Page 31 

3.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to 

reporting on Principle 3. 

Yes Website 

Principle 4 - Safeguard integrity in financial reporting   

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee. Yes Page 31 
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4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it:   

  Consists only of Non-executive directors Yes Page 31 

 Consists of a majority of independent directors Yes Page 31 

 Is chaired by an independent chair, who is  not chair of the board No Page 31 

 Has at least three members Yes Page 31 

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. Yes Page 31 

4.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 4. 

Yes Website; Annual 

Report 

Principle 5 - Make timely and balanced disclosure   

5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure 

compliance with ASX listing rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 

accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose 

those policies or a summary of those policies. 

No ASX listing rules are 

complied with and 

management are 

currently in the process 

of formally 
documenting the 

policy. Senior 

executives are aware 

of, and periodically 

reminded of, their 

accountability for 

compliance.  Given the 

relatively small size of 

the organisation, this is 

regarded as a 

reasonable approach.   

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to 

reporting on Principle 5. 

Yes Website 

Principle 6 - Respect the rights of shareholders   

6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for promoting 

effective communication with shareholders and encouraging their 

participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of 

that policy. 

Yes Continuous disclosure 

and regular business 

updates provided to the 

market 

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to 

reporting on Principle 6. 

Yes Website 

Principle 7 - Recognise and manage risk   

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of 

material business risks and disclose a summary of those policies. 

Yes Page 33 

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the risk 
management and internal control system to manage the company's material 

business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being managed 

effectively. The board should disclose that management has reported to it as 

to the effectiveness of the company's management of its material business 

risks 

Yes Page 33 

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the 
chief executive officer [or equivalent] and the chief financial officer [or 

equivalent] that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of 

the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and 

internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material 

respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

Yes Page 33 

7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to 
reporting on Principle 7. 

Yes Website; Annual 
Report 

Principle 8 – Remunerate Fairly and responsibly   

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee. Yes Page 28,31 
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8.2 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of Non-executive 

directors' remuneration from that of executive directors and senior executives. 

Yes Page 14 

8.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the guide to 

reporting on Principle 8. 

Yes Website; Annual 

Report 

 

CogState's corporate governance practices were in place throughout the year ended 30 June 
2011. 

 

Board Functions 

 

The Board seeks to identify the expectations of the shareholders, as well as other regulatory 

and ethical expectations and obligations. In addition, the Board is responsible for identifying 

areas of significant business risk and ensuring arrangements are in place to adequately 
manage those risks. 

 

To ensure that the Board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities it has established 
guidelines for the nomination and selection of directors and for the operation of the Board. 

 

The responsibility for the operation and administration of the Company is delegated, by the 
Board, to the CEO and the executive management team. The Board ensures that this team is 

appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge their responsibilities and has in place 

procedures to assess the performance of the CEO and the executive management team. 

 
Whilst at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the 

Company, in discharging its stewardship it makes use of sub-committees. Specialist 

committees are able to focus on a particular responsibility and provide informed feedback to 
the Board. 

 

To this end the Board has established the following committees: 

 Audit and Compliance  

 Remuneration and Nomination. 

 

The roles and responsibilities of these committees are discussed throughout this Corporate 

Governance Statement. 

 
The Board is responsible for ensuring that management's objectives and activities are aligned 

with the expectations and risk identified by the Board. The Board has a number of 

mechanisms in place to ensure this is achieved including: 

 Board approval of a strategic plan designed to meet stakeholders' needs and manage 

business risk; 

 ongoing development of the strategic plan and approving initiatives and strategies 

designed to ensure the continued growth and success of the entity; and 

 implementation of budgets by management and monitoring progress against budget - 

via the establishment and reporting of both financial and non-financial key 

performance indicators. 
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Other functions reserved to the Board include: 

 approval of the annual and half-yearly financial reports; 

 approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital 

management, and acquisitions and divestitures; 

 ensuring that any significant risks that arise are identified, assessed, appropriately 

managed and monitored; and 

 reporting to shareholders. 

 

 

Structure of the Board 

 

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director 

in office at the date of the annual report is included in the Directors’ Report.  Directors of 
CogState Limited are considered to be independent when they are independent of 

management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere 

with – or could reasonably be perceived to interfere with – the exercise of their unfettered and 
independent judgement. 

 

In accordance with the definition of independence above, Richard Morgan (non-executive 

director), Michael Wooldridge (non-executive director), David Simpson (non-executive 
director) and Richard van den Broek (non-executive director) are considered to be 

independent.   

 
Martyn Myer (non-executive Chairman) is not considered to be an independent director due 

to the substantial CogState Limited shareholding controlled by him. 

 
The Recommendations suggest that the Chairperson should be an independent director.  

Despite his substantial shareholding in CogState Limited, the Board views Mr Myer as the 

best person to fulfil this role and discharge the associated duties at this stage of the company’s 

development, notwithstanding his position as a substantial shareholder.  Mr Myer brings to 
the Board extensive experience gained as a director of developing technology oriented 

companies and both large and small public companies.   

 
The Recommendations suggest that a majority of the Board of Directors should be 

independent.  As described above, three of the five CogState directors, comprising a majority 

of the Board, are independent.  It is considered that the nature and size of CogState 
operations, along with the ability of the company to fund additional director fees, precludes 

the company from appointing additional directors with the necessary expertise at this time in 

the company’s development. 

 
CogState Limited has the ability to draw on an excellent range of skills and experiences from 

the diverse backgrounds of its existing Board. 

 
There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable directors, in furtherance of their 

duties, to seek independent professional advice at the company’s expense. 

 

The term in office held by each director in office at the date of this report is as follows: 
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Name Term in Office 

M Myer 11 years 8 months 

B O’Connor 5 years 9 months 
R Morgan 8 years 1 month 

M Wooldridge 7 years 3 months 

D Simpson 
R van den Broek 

7 years 
10 months 

 

 

On 30 June 2011, Mr. Richard Morgan and Dr Michael Wooldridge tendered their resignation 
to the Board.  

 

Performance 
 

The performance of the Board and key executives is reviewed regularly against both 

measurable and qualitative factors. The performance criteria against which directors and 
executives are assessed are aligned with the financial and non-financial objectives of 

CogState Limited.  Assessment of key executives’ performance is based on agreed and 

documented factors and is performed formally on an annual basis.  Assessment of the 

performance of the Board, its Committees and individual directors is performed by the Board 
on an ongoing basis. 

 

During the reporting period: 

 the Nomination Committee conducted a performance evaluation of the Chief 

Executive’s performance against specific and measurable qualitative and quantitative 

performance criteria.  This evaluation was in accordance with the process disclosed 

above; 

 the Chief Executive Officer conducted performance appraisals of other key 

executives’ performances against specific and measurable qualitative and quantitative 

performance criteria and this review was overseen by the Nomination Committee. 

This evaluation was in accordance with the process disclosed above; 

 the Board conducted ongoing review of its performance and that of its Committees 

and individual directors against criteria relevant to the interests of the Company and 
its stakeholders, including assessment of its performance against best practice. This 

evaluation was in accordance with the process disclosed above. 

 
Directors whose performance is consistently unsatisfactory may be asked to retire. 
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Trading Policy 

 

Under the Company's Securities Trading Policy, an executive or Director must not trade in 

any securities of the Company at any time when they are in possession of unpublished, price 
sensitive information in relation to those securities. 

 

Executives and Directors are notified in writing by the Company Secretary of times when it is 
appropriate to trade in securities of the Company.  There is no trading in the securities of the 

Company by Executives or Directors outside of this prescribed time. 

 

As required by the ASX Listing Rules, the Company notifies the ASX of any transaction 
conducted by Directors in the securities of the Company. 

 

Diversity policy 
 

The Company will, during the next reporting period, establish and implement a diversity 

policy which will include, but not be limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural 
background of the Board and Key Management Personnel.  The Company will set measurable 

objects to measure the achievement of the diversity policy, and introduce procedures to 

ensure its proper implementation.  An internal review will be conducted annually to assess the 

effective of the policy and its implementation procedures. 

 

Audit & Compliance Committee 

 
The Board has established an Audit and Compliance Committee, which operates under a 

charter approved by the Board.  It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective 

internal control framework exists within the entity.  This includes internal controls to deal 
with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding 

of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial 

information as well as non-financial considerations.  The Board has delegated the 

responsibility for the establishment and maintenance of a framework of internal control and 
ethical standards for the management of the company to the audit committee. 

 

The committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial information for inclusion in the financial reports.  All members of the audit 

committee are non-executive directors. 

 

The members of the Audit Committee during the year were: 
  

 M Myer 

 R Morgan  
 D Simpson  

 M Wooldridge 

 R van den Broek 
  

Four of the five directors detailed above (R Morgan, M Wooldridge, D Simpson and R van 

den Broek) are independent directors; therefore the majority of the audit committee comprises 

independent directors. 
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The company had appointed Anthony Lewis as a permanent adviser to the Audit Committee.  

Mr Lewis is a former partner at Arthur Andersen.  He holds a Bachelor of Economics and is a 

Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, a member of the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors and a member of the Australian Society of Certified Practicing 
Accountants.  During the year, Anthony Lewis tendered his resignation as a permanent 

adviser, effective 30 June 2011. 

 
The Recommendations suggest that the company should structure the audit committee with an 

independent chairperson, who is not the chairperson of the Board.  Mr M Myer, the 

chairperson of the Audit Committee, is not considered to be an independent director due to 

the substantial CogState Limited shareholding that he holds and he is also the Chairman of the 
Board.  However the Board views Mr Myer as the best person to fulfil this role due to his 

extensive experience gained as a director of developing technology oriented companies and 

both large and small public companies.   

 

For details of the qualifications of those appointed to the audit committee, and their 

attendances at meetings of the committee, refer to the Directors’ Report. 
 

Remuneration 

 

It is the company’s objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a 
high quality Board and executive team by remunerating directors and key executives fairly 

and appropriately with reference to relevant employment market conditions.  To assist in 

achieving this objective, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee links the nature and 
amount of directors’ and officers’ emoluments to the company’s financial and operational 

performance.  The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are: 

 Retention and motivation of key executives 

 Attraction of quality management to the company 

 Performance incentives which allow the executives to share the rewards of the 

success of CogState Limited. 
 

For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary components 

for each of the key management personnel during the year and for all directors, refer to the 

Directors’ Report.  Bonus and long term incentive payments have been made to key 
management personnel during the year.  In relation to the grant of options, discretion is 

exercised by the Board, having regard to the overall performance of CogState Limited and the 

desire to motivate the individual.   
 

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to 

non-executive directors. 

 
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the 

directors themselves and the chief executive officer and the executive team.  The Board has 

established the Remuneration and Nomination Committee to make recommendations to the 
Board.  The Remuneration and Nomination Committee comprises five non-executive 

directors.  Members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee throughout the year 

were: 
  

M Myer 

 R Morgan  

 D Simpson  
 M Wooldridge 

 R van den Broek 
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For details on the number of meetings of the remuneration committee held during the year 

and the attendances at those meetings, refer to the Directors’ Report. 

 

Risk 
 

The Board determines the Company's risk profile and is responsible for overseeing and 

approving risk management strategy and policies, internal compliance and internal control. 
The Company's process of risk management and internal compliance and control includes:  

 establishing the Company's goals and objectives, and implementing and monitoring 

strategies and policies to achieve these goals and objectives;  

 continuously identifying and measuring risks that might impact upon the achievement 

of the Company's goals and objectives, and monitoring the environment for emerging 

factors and trends that affect these risks; 

 formulating risk management strategies to manage identified risks, and designing and 

implementing appropriate risk management policies and internal controls;  

 monitoring the performance of, and continuously improving the effectiveness of, risk 

management systems and internal compliance and controls, including an annual 

assessment of the effectiveness of risk management and internal compliance and 
control.  

 

To this end, comprehensive practices are in place that are directed towards achieving the 
following objectives: 

 effectiveness and efficiency in the use of the Company's resources; 

 compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 

 preparation of reliable published financial information. 

 

The Board oversees an annual assessment of the effectiveness of risk management and 

internal compliance and control.  
 

The responsibility for undertaking and assessing risk management and internal control 

effectiveness is delegated to the Audit Committee.  Management is required by the Board to 
assess risk management and associated internal compliance and control procedures and report 

back on the efficiency and effectiveness of risk management by benchmarking the Company's 

performance to the Australia/New Zealand Standard on Risk Management.   
 

Management reports to the audit committee at each audit committee meeting on the status of 

the company’s risk management arrangements, including whether material business risks are 

being managed effectively.  The audit committee keeps the Board apprised as to these 
matters. 

 

Chief Executive Officer and Finance Manager Certification 

 

In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act, the Chief Executive Officer and 

Finance Manager have provided a written statement to the Board that: 

 their view provided on the Company's financial report is founded on a sound system 

of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the 

financial policies adopted by the Board; and 

 that the Company's risk management and internal compliance and control system is 

operating effectively in all material respects. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

   AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 

   

  

Consolidated 

 
Note 2011 2010 

    $ $ 

ASSETS 

  

  

Current Assets 

   Cash and cash equivalents 11 3,306,562 3,092,437 

Trade and other receivables 12 1,202,760 1,623,471 

Other current assets 13 381,264 270,639 

Derivative financial instruments 19 28,866                         -    

Total Current Assets 

 

4,919,452 4,986,546 

    Non-current Assets 

   Plant and equipment 15 905,040 1,235,907 

Intangible assets 16 401,584 401,584 

Investment in joint ventures 14 115,536 562,719 

Deferred tax assets 9 1,516,595 1,457,530 

Total Non-current Assets 

 

2,938,755 3,657,740 

TOTAL ASSETS 

 

7,858,207 8,644,286 

    LIABILITIES 

   Current Liabilities 

   Trade payables 17 82,667 155,777 

Other payables 17 944,903 975,680 

Derivative financial instruments 19                      -    27,152 

Provisions 18 492,348 405,923 

Deferred tax liabilities 9 10,465 20,790 

Total Current Liabilities 
 

1,530,383 1,585,322 

    Non-current Liabilities 

   Provisions 18 24,693 38,007 

Total Non-current Liabilities 

 

24,693 38,007 

TOTAL LIABILIITES 

 

1,555,076 1,623,329 

NET ASSETS 

 

6,303,131 7,020,957 

    EQUITY 

   Contributed equity 20 14,333,818 14,303,130 

Accumulated losses 21 (9,405,280) (8,559,074) 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 21 (73,212) - 

Share Option Reserve 21 1,447,805 1,276,901 

TOTAL EQUITY 

 

6,303,131 7,020,957 

 
This Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011   

  Consolidated 

 Note 2011 2010 

  $ $ 

Operations    

    

Sale of services 6 8,133,258 9,484,958 

Finance revenue 6 114,802 101,389 

Revenue  8,248,060 9,586,347 

    

Cost of sales 8(a) (3,753,030) (3,878,962) 

Gross profit  4,495,030 5,707,385 

    

Other income 7 - 170,225 

Fair value gain on derivative 7 56,018 - 

Employee benefits expense 8(e) (2,665,767) (2,803,330) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8(c) (53,308) (39,173) 

Occupancy expenses 8(d) (279,773) (216,074) 

Marketing expenses  (135,745) (140,928) 

Accounting and auditing expenses  (225,702) (183,092) 

General Administration  (644,237) (766,886) 

Legal expenses  (40,558) (86,640) 

Travel expenses  (404,872) (606,577) 

Third party research and development expenses  (19,993) (61,274) 

Sales commissions  (2,144) (130,999) 

Net foreign exchange loss  (203,272) (79,345) 

Finance costs 

Fair value loss on derivative 

8(b) 

8(b) 

(33,706) 

- 

(30,599) 

(27,152) 
Other expenses 8(f) (8,490) - 

Contract termination fees 8(g) (126,240) (303,854) 

  (292,759) 401,687 

Share of profit/(loss) in joint venture  (625,642) (21,793) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax  (918,401) 379,894 

Income tax (expense)/benefit 9 72,195 1,257,721 

Profit/(loss) after income tax (846,206) 1,637,615  

Net profit/(loss) for the year  (846,206) 1,637,615 

  

 

 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

 

 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (73,212) - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (73,212) - 

  

 

 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  (919,418) 1,637,615 
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Earnings per share (cents per share) 
- basic for profit from operations attributable to 10   

ordinary equity holders  (1.27) 2.48 

- diluted for profit from operations attributable to    

ordinary equity holders  (1.27) 2.36 

 

 
This Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

 

 

 Consolidated 

 

Issued 

Capital 

Retained 

earnings 

Share option 

reserve 

 

Foreign 

Currency 

Translation 

Reserve Total 

  
$ $ $ 

 

    

 

 As at 1 July 2009 14,197,010 (10,196,689) 935,857 - 4,936,178 

Profit / (loss) for the period 
                           

-    1,637,615 
                           

-    
 

- 
                

1,637,615  

Total comprehensive income 

                           

-    1,637,615 

                           

-    

- 

1,637,615 

    

 

 Transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners 
   

  

Exercise of options 106,120  

                           

-    

                           

-    

- 

106,120     

Cost of share-based payment 

                           

-    

                           

-    341,044 

 

- 

                  

341,044  

As at 30 June 2010 14,303,130 (8,559,074) 1,276,901 - 7,020,957 

    

 

 As at 1 July 2010 14,303,130 (8,559,074) 1,276,901 - 7,020,957 

Profit / (loss) for the period 
                           

-    (846,206) 
                           

-    
                           

-    (846,206) 

Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations 

                           

-    

                           

-    

                           

-    (73,212) (73,212) 

Total comprehensive income 14,303,130 (9,405,280) 1,276,901 (73,212) 6,101,539 

    

 

 Transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners 

   

  

Exercise of options 

                           

30,688    

                           

-    

                           

-    

 

- 30,688 

Cost of share-based payment 
                           

-    
                           

-    170,904 
 

- 
 

170,904 

As at 30 June 2011 14,333,818 (9,405,280) 1,447,805 (73,212) 6,303,131 

    

 

  

 

 
This Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 

   FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

   

  

Consolidated 

 
Note 2011 2010 

    $ $ 

   

  

Cash flows from operating activities 

   Receipts from customers 

 

8,044,931 10,158,721 

Payments to suppliers and employees 

 

(7,534,743) (8,910,781) 

Receipts from government grants 

 

- 160,907 

Net cash flows used in operating activities 23 510,188 1,408,847 

    

    Cash flows from investing activities 

   Interest received 
 

112,515 82,991 

Purchase of property, plant & equipment 

 

(103,431) (933,062) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 
 

2,553 18,133 

Investment in Axon Sports LLC 

 

(251,671) (562,719) 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (240,034) (1,394,657) 

    Cash flows from financing activities 

   

Proceeds from issue of shares  
 

         

30,688         106,120  

Net cash flows from financing activities 30,688 106,120 

    Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents 
 

300,842 120,310 

Net foreign exchange differences 

 

(86,716) (58,269) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

 

3,092,437 3,030,395 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 11 3,306,562 3,092,437 

 
 

 

This Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 

The financial report of CogState Limited (the company) for the year end 30 June 2011 was authorised 

for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 23
rd

August 2011.   

CogState Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly 

traded on the Australian stock exchange (ASX: CGS).  

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ 

Report. 

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Table of contents 

  Basis of preparation 40 

(a) Compliance with IFRS 40 
(b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 40 

(c) Basis of consolidation 45 
(d) Operating segments 46 

(e) Foreign currency translation 46 
(f) Cash and cash equivalents 47 

(g) Trade and other receivables 47 
(h) Derivative financial instruments and hedging 47 

(i) Interest in jointly controlled entity 48 
(j) Property, plant and equipment 48 

(k) Leases 48 
(l) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and indefinite life intangibles 49 

(m) Intangible assets 49 
(n) Trade and other payables 49 

(o) Provisions and employee benefits 50 
(p) Share-based payment transactions 50 

(q) Contributed equity 51 
(r) Revenue recognition 51 

(s) Income tax and other taxes 52 
(t) Government grants 53 

(u) Earnings per share 53 
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Basis of preparation  

 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with 

the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other 

authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial report has 

also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments, which have 
been measured at fair value. 

 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 
 

(a)  Compliance with IFRS 

 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

(b)   New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

 

(i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures. 

 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as 

follows: 

 

The Group has adopted the following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 
Interpretations as of 1 July2010. 

 

 AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 

Improvements effective 1 July 2010 

 AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-

based Payment Transactions effective 1 July 2010 

 AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights 

Issues effective 1 July 2010 

 AASB  2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 

Improvements Project effective 1 July 2010 

 Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments effective 1 July 

2010 

 

(ii) Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective. AASB 101.16 

 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but 

are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 

30 June 2011, outlined in the table below:  
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Reference Title Summary 

Application 

date of 

standard* 

Impact on 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for 

Group* 

AASB 124 

(Revised) 

Related Party 

Disclosures 

(December 2009) 

The revised AASB 124 simplifies the 

definition of a related party, clarifying its 

intended meaning and eliminating 

inconsistencies from the definition, 
including: 

(a)  The definition now identifies a 

subsidiary and an associate with the 

same investor as related parties of 
each other 

(b) Entities significantly influenced by 

one person and entities significantly 

influenced by a close member of the 

family of that person are no longer 
related parties of each other 

(c) The definition now identifies that, 

whenever a person or entity has both 

joint control over a second entity and 

joint control or significant influence 

over a third party, the second and 

third entities are related to each other 

A partial exemption is also provided from 

the disclosure requirements for government-

related entities.  Entities that are related by 

virtue of being controlled by the same 

government can provide reduced related 
party disclosures.  

1 January 

2011 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have 

minimal 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2011 

AASB 

2009-12 

Amendments to 

Australian 

Accounting 

Standards 

[AASBs 5, 8, 108, 

110, 112, 119, 133, 

137, 139, 1023 & 

1031 and 

Interpretations 2, 4, 

16, 1039 & 1052] 

This amendment makes numerous editorial 

changes to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations. 

In particular, it amends AASB 8 Operating 

Segments to require an entity to exercise 

judgement in assessing whether a 

government and entities known to be under 

the control of that government are considered 

a single customer for the purposes of certain 

operating segment disclosures.  It also makes 

numerous editorial amendments to a range of 

Australian Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations, including amendments to 

reflect changes made to the text of IFRS by 

the IASB. 

1 January 

2011 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have no 

impact on 

the group 

financial 
report 

1 July 2011 



CogState Limited  2011 Financial Report 

 

 

Page | 42 

 

Reference Title Summary 

Application 

date of 

standard* 

Impact on 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for 

Group* 

AASB 

1053 

Application of Tiers 

of Australian 

Accounting 
Standards 

This Standard establishes a differential 

financial reporting framework consisting of 

two Tiers of reporting requirements for 

preparing general purpose financial 

statements: 

(a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards 

(b) Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards 

– Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

Tier 2 comprises the recognition, 

measurement and presentation requirements 

of Tier 1 and substantially reduced 

disclosures corresponding to those 
requirements. 

The following entities apply Tier 1 

requirements in preparing general purpose 
financial statements: 

(a) For-profit entities in the private sector 

that have public accountability (as 
defined in this Standard) 

(b) The Australian Government and State, 
Territory and Local Governments 

The following entities apply either Tier 2 or 

Tier 1 requirements in preparing general 

purpose financial statements: 

(a) For-profit private sector entities that do 

not have public accountability 

(b) All not-for-profit private sector entities 

Public sector entities other than the 

Australian Government and State, Territory 
and Local Governments 

1 July 2013 Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have no 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2013 

AASB 

1054 

Australian Additional 

Disclosures 

This standard is as a consequence of phase 1 

of the joint Trans-Tasman Convergence 
project of the AASB and FRSB. 

This standard relocates all Australian 

specific disclosures from other standards to 

one place and revises disclosures in the 
following areas: 

(a) Compliance with Australian 

Accounting Standards 

(b) The statutory basis or reporting 

framework for financial statements 

(c) Whether the financial statements are 

general purpose or special purpose 

(d) Audit fees 
(e) Imputation credits 

1 July 2011 Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have no 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2011 
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Reference Title Summary 

Application 

date of 

standard* 

Impact on 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for 

Group* 

AASB 

2010-4 

Further Amendments 

to Australian 

Accounting 

Standards arising 

from the Annual 

Improvements 

Project [AASB 1, 

AASB 7, AASB 101, 

AASB 134 and 
Interpretation 13] 

Emphasises the interaction between 

quantitative and qualitative AASB 7 

disclosures and the nature and extent of risks 
associated with financial instruments. 

Clarifies that an entity will present an 

analysis of other comprehensive income for 

each component of equity, either in the 

statement of changes inequity or in the notes 

to the financial statements. 

Provides guidance to illustrate how to apply 

disclosure principles in AASB 134 for 
significant events and transactions. 

Clarifies that when the fair value of award 

credits is measured based on the value of the 

awards for which they could be redeemed, 

the amount of discounts or incentives 

otherwise granted to customers not 

participating in the award credit scheme, is to 
be taken into account. 

1 January 

2011 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have 

minimal 

impact on 

the group 

financial 
report 

1 July2011 

AASB 

2010-5 

Amendments to 

Australian 

Accounting 
Standards 

[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 

101, 107, 112, 118, 

119, 121, 132, 133, 

134, 137, 139, 140, 

1023 & 1038 and 

Interpretations 112, 

115, 127, 132 & 
1042] 

This Standard makes numerous editorial 

amendments to a range of Australian 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 

including amendments to reflect changes 

made to the text of IFRS by the IASB. 

These amendments have no major impact on 

the requirements of the amended 
pronouncements. 

1 January 

2011 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have no 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2011 

AASB 

2010-6 

Amendments to 

Australian 

Accounting 

Standards –

Disclosures on 

Transfers o 

fFinancial 

Assets[AASB 1 & 

AASB 7] 

The amendments increase the disclosure 

requirements for transactions involving 

transfers of financial assets. Disclosures 

require enhancements to the existing 

disclosures in IFRS 7 where an asset is 

transferred but is not derecognised and 

introduce new disclosures for assets that are 

derecognised but the entity continues to have 

a continuing exposure to the asset after the 

sale. 

1 July 2011 Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have 

minimal 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2011 

AASB 

2011-1 

Amendments to 

Australian 

Accounting 

Standards arising 

from the Trans-

Tasman Convergence 
project  

[AASB 1, AASB 5, 

AASB 101, AASB 

107, AASB 108, 

AASB 121, AASB 

128, AASB 132, 

AASB 134, 

Interpretation 2, 

Interpretation 112, 

Interpretation 113] 

This Standard amendments many Australian 

Accounting Standards, removing the 

disclosures which have been relocated to 

AASB 1054. 

 

1 July 2011 Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have no 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2011 
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Reference Title Summary 

Application 

date of 

standard* 

Impact on 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for 

Group* 

**** Joint Arrangements IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint 

Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly- controlled 

Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by 

Ventures. IFRS 11 uses the principle of 

control in IFRS 10 to define joint control, 

and therefore the determination of 

whether joint control exists may change. 

In addition IFRS 11 removes the option to 

account for jointly controlled entities 

(JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. 

Instead, accounting for a joint 

arrangement is dependent on the nature of 

the rights and obligations arising from the 

arrangement. Joint operations that give 

the venturers a right to the underlying 

assets and obligations themselves is 

accounted for by recognising the share of 

those assets and obligations.  Joint 

ventures that give the venturers a right to 

the net assets is accounted for using the 

equity method.  This may result in a 

change in the accounting for the joint 

arrangements held by the group. 

1 January 

2013 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have no 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2013 

**** Disclosure of 

Interests in Other 

Entities 

IFRS 12 includes all disclosures relating to 

an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 

arrangements, associates and structures 

entities. New disclosures have been 

introduced about the judgements made by 

management to determine whether control 

exists, and to require summarised 

information about joint arrangements, 

associates and structured entities and 

subsidiaries with non-controlling interests. 

1 January 
2013 

 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have 

minimal 

impact on 

the group 

financial 

report 

1 July 2013 

**** Consolidated 

Financial Statements  

IFRS 10 establishes a new control model 

that applies to all entities.  It replaces 

parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements dealing with the 

accounting for consolidated financial 

statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – 

Special Purpose Entities.  

 

The new control model broadens the 

situations when an entity is considered to 

be controlled by another entity and 

includes new guidance for applying the 

model to specific situations, including 

when acting as a manager may give 

control, the impact of potential voting 

rights and when holding less than a 

majority voting rights may give control.  

This is likely to lead to more entities being 

consolidated into the group.  

1 January 

2013 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have 

minimal 

impact on 

the group 

financial 
report 

1 July 2013 
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Reference Title Summary 

Application 

date of 

standard* 

Impact on 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for 

Group* 

**** Fair Value 

Measurement 

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of 

guidance under IFRS for determining the 

fair value of assets and liabilities. IFRS 13 

does not change when an entity is required 

to use fair value, but rather, provides 

guidance on how to determine fair value 

under IFRS when fair value is required or 

permitted by IFRS. Application of this 

definition may result in different fair 

values being determined for the relevant 

assets. 

 

IFRS 13 also expands the disclosure 

requirements for all assets or liabilities 

carried at fair value.  This includes 

information about the assumptions made 

and the qualitative impact of those 

assumptions on the fair value determined. 

1 January 

2013 

Management 

anticipate 

that this will 

have 

minimal 

impact on 

the group 

financial 
report 

1 July 2013 

 

*Application date is for the annual reporting periods beginning on or after the date shown in the 

above table. 

 

(c) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of CogState Limited and its 

subsidiaries (as outlined in note 24) as at and for the period ended 30 June each year (the Group). The 
interest in Axon Sports LLC is equity accounted and is not part of the consolidated Group (see note 

2(i) below). 

 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 

operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential 

voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether a 
group controls another entity. 

 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent 

company, using consistent accounting policies. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all 
intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from 

intragroup transactions have been eliminated in full. 

 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and cease 

to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 

 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, is 

accounted for as an equity transaction. 
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(d) Operating segments - refer note 5 

 

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it 

may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with 

other components of the same entity), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's 
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and 

assess its performance and for which discrete financial information is available. This includes start-up 

operations which are yet to earn revenues. Management will also consider other factors in 
determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and the level of segment 

information presented to the executive management team. 

 
The following items are not allocated to operating segments as they are not considered part of the 

core operations of any segment: 

 

 Fair value gain/loss on derivative 

 Interest revenue 

 Finance costs 

 Contract termination fees 

 Foreign exchange gain/loss 

 Profit/loss on disposal of assets 

 
Consistent with the requirements of AASB8, as the Chief Operating Decision Maker does not receive 

information regarding segment assets, no disclosure of segment assets has been provided. 

 

(e) Foreign currency translation 

(i)Functional and presentation currency 

Both the functional and presentation currency of CogState Limited and its subsidiaries are Australian 
dollars ($).  The functional currency of the Axon Sports LLC joint venture is United States dollars 

($).  The presentation currency of the Axon Sports LLC joint venture is Australian dollars ($). 

 

(ii)Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the 

exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at balance date. 

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 

determined. 
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(f) Cash and cash equivalents – refer note 11 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand 
and short-term deposits. 

For the purposes of the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 

equivalents as defined above, as well as short term deposits. 

Short term deposits have a maturity term of up to six months. 

Short term deposits are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for 

investment or other purposes. They are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

(g) Trade and other receivables - refer note 12 

Trade receivables which generally have a 30-90 day term are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for 

any uncollectible amounts. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be 

uncollectible are written off when identified.  An allowance for doubtful debts is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect the debt. 

 

(h) Derivative financial instruments - refer note 19 

During the 2010 financial year, the Group commenced using forward currency contracts; to mitigate 

its risks associated with foreign denominated trade receivables. Such derivative financial instruments 

are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured to fair value. 

 

Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair 

value is negative. 
 

The fair values of forward currency contracts are calculated by reference to current forward exchange 

rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.  
 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or 

loss for the year. 
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(i) Interest in joint venture – refer note 14 

 

The Group has a 50% interest in Axon Sports LLC and the Group's interest in this joint venture is 

accounted for using the equity method of accounting in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Under the equity method, interest in joint ventures  are carried in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the 

associates. After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 

recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group's net interest in joint venture. 
 

The Group's share of post-acquisition profits or losses are recognised in the profit or loss, and its 

share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in other comprehensive income. The 
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the interest. 

 

The reporting dates of the joint venture and the Group are identical and the joint venture’s accounting 

policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
 

(j) Property, plant and equipment – refer note 15 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation 

when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, 

its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it is 
eligible for capitalisation.  All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as 

incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as 

follows: 

Office equipment – over 3 to 15 years 

Computer Equipment – over 2 to 5 years 

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each financial year end. 

 

Disposal 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the 
asset is derecognised. 

 

(k) Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the 

arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent 

on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

Group as a lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised in the profit or loss as an integral part of the total 

lease expense. 
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(l) Impairment of non financial assets other than goodwill – refer note 16 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 

annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 

might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
 

CogState conducts an annual internal review of asset values, which is used as a source of information 

to assess for any indicators of impairment. External factors, such as changes in expected future 
processes, technology and economic conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of 

impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount is 

calculated. 
 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its 

recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and 

value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows 

from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 

that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed. 

 

(m) Intangible assets – refer note 16 

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are initially measured at cost. The 

cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of 

acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, 
excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is charged against 

profits in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.  

Intangible assets include acquired intellectual property rights over key business technologies and 

processes. These intangible assets have been determined to have indefinite useful lives and the cost 

model is utilised for their measurement. These technologies form the basis of the CogState business 

and this fact has allowed the Group to determine that these assets have an indefinite useful life.  

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or 

at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible 

asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting period to determine whether indefinite life 
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from 

indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on 

a prospective basis. 

Research and development costs 

Research costs are expensed as incurred.  

 

(n) Trade and other payables – refer note 17 
 

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost.  They represent liabilities for goods 

and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise 
when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods 

and services.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
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(o) Provisions and employee leave benefits - refer note 18 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

Employee leave benefits 

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating 

sick leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of 
employees' services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 

when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the 

leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 

(ii) Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured 

as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 

using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity that 

match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

 

(p) Share-based payment transactions – refer note 25 

 (i) Equity settled transactions: 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of 

equity-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for rights over shares 

(equity-settled transactions). 

There are currently two plans in place to provide these benefits: 

• The Non-Executive Director Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to directors. 

•The Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to senior executives and 

employees. 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair 

value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined 

using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 26. 

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than 
conditions linked to the price of the shares of CogState Limited (market conditions) if applicable. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 

over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date 
on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date). 

At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative charge to the profit or loss is the 

product of (i) the grant date fair value of the award; (ii) the current best estimate of the number of 
awards that will vest, taking into account such factors as the likelihood of employee turnover during 

the vesting period and the likelihood of nonmarket performance conditions being met; and (iii) the 

expired portion of the vesting period. 

 
The charge to the profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount as calculated above less the 

amounts already charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding credit to equity. 
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Until an award has vested, any amounts recorded are contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer 

awards vest than were originally anticipated to do so. Any award subject to a market condition is 
considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition is fulfilled, provided that all 

other conditions are satisfied. 

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 

terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the 

employee, as measured at the date of modification. 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is 

substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 

granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, 
as described in the previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 

computation of earnings per share (see note 10). 

 

(q) Contributed equity – refer note 20 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 

(r) Revenue recognition – refer note 6 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must 

also be met before revenue is recognised: 

(i) Sale of tests 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the test credits have 
passed to the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 

measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of 

delivery of the test credits to the customer. 

(ii) Rendering of services 

Revenue from the provision of cognitive testing services is recognised by reference to the stage of 

completion of a contract. 

Stage of completion is measured by reference to key milestones set out in each contractual agreement 
and the costs incurred to date for each contract. 

When the contract outcome cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of 

the expenses recognised that are recoverable. 

(iii) Interest revenue 

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial 

asset. 
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(s) Income tax and other taxes – refer note 9 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 

compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by balance date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at balance date between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:  

• when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset 

or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 

interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of 

unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

• when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

or interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to 

the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 

the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted at balance date. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit 

or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate 

to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 

Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item as applicable; and 

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.  
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The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 

receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flow on a gross basis and the GST component of 

cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 

the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority. 

 

(t) Government grants – refer note 7 

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 

and all attaching conditions will be complied with. 

When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to 
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. 

When the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is 

released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual 

installments. 

 

(u) Earnings per share – refer note 10 

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude any 
costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members adjusted for: 

• costs of servicing equity (other than dividends); 

• the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that 

have been recognised as expenses; and 

• other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from 
the dilution of potential ordinary shares;  

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, 

adjusted for any bonus element. 
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash, short-term deposits 

and derivatives. 

 
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and currency risk in 

accordance with the Group's financial risk management policy. The objective of the policy is to 

support the delivery of the Group's financial targets whilst protecting future financial security. 
 

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency 

risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. During the year the Group entered into forward currency contracts 

to mitigate currency risks arising from the Group’s foreign debtors collections.  The Group uses 
different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. These 

include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risk and assessments of 

market forecasts for interest rate and foreign exchange. Ageing analyses and monitoring of specific 
credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk, liquidity risk is monitored through the 

development of future rolling cash flow forecasts. 

 

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Audit Committee 
under the authority of the Board. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of the 

risks identified below, including interest rate risk, credit allowances, and future cash flow forecast 

projections. 
 

 

Risk Exposures and Responses 
 

Foreign currency risk  

 

As a result of the majority of the customer base being domiciled in the United States and Europe, the 
Group’s financial assets can be affected by movements in the US$/A$ and GBP/A$ exchange rates. 

Previously the Group did not seek to hedge this exposure specifically, but sought to partially mitigate 

the effect of its foreign currency exposure by using US$ as its transaction currency with overseas 
customers. Trade receivables are received in US$ into a US$ denominated bank account, these 

monies are then used to fund the US operations.  Historically management has assessed any 

remaining foreign currency risk from Australian operations to be not material enough to justify the 
expense of formal hedging however in May 2010and June 2011 management entered into forward 

currency contracts to help mitigate exposure. 

 

 
Approximately 99% of the Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional 

currency, whilst approximately 75% of costs are denominated in the Group’s functional currency. 
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At 30 June 2011, the Group had (in AUD) the following exposure to foreign currency; 

 
 

 
Consolidated  

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

Financial Assets 

  

Cash and cash equivalents  

                  

1,066,322  

                     

453,569  

Trade receivables 

                  

1,108,154  

                  

1,402,894  

   Financial Liabilities 
  

Payables & Accruals (400,419) 

 

(328,864) 

   

Net exposure  

                  
1,774,058  

 
1,527,599                   

 
 

At 30 June 2011, had the Australian Dollar moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other 

variables held constant and based on a base rate of $A1.00 = $US1.05951, post tax profit and equity 

would have been affected as follows: 
 

 

 
Post Tax Profit 

 
Equity 

 
Higher/(Lower) 

 
Higher/(Lower) 

 
2011 2010 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

 
$ $ 

Consolidated 

     AUD:USD +10% (160,212) (152,805) 

 

(160,212) (152,805) 

AUD:USD - 10%  198,420  185,072  

 

198,420  185,072  

 
 

 

The movements in profit in 2011 are less sensitive than in 2010 due to a lower amount of trade 
receivable balances held in USD. 

 

Management believes that the balance date risk exposures are representative of the risk exposure 
inherent in the financial instruments. 

 

Credit risk  

 
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprises cash, short term deposits, 

and trade receivables. The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter 

party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. Exposure at 
balance date is addressed in each applicable note. 

 

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group and financial instruments are 
spread amongst a number of financial institutions to minimise the risk of default of counterparties. 

 

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is not 

requested nor is it the Group's policy to securitise its trade and other receivables. 
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In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's 

exposure to bad debts is not significant. 
 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 
The Group's exposure to liquidity risk is minimal.  CogState Ltd’s only significant financial liabilities 

are trade payables. 

The remaining contractual maturities of the Group's financial liabilities are: 

 

 

Consolidated  

 

2011 2010 

 

$ $ 

3 months or less 

                  

1,038,518  

                  

1,131,783  

3-12 months 
                     

456,041  
                       

22,273  

1-5 years 

                              

-    

                         

4,551  

Over 5 years 

                              

-    

                              

-    

 

                  

1,494,559  

                  

1,158,607  

 

CogState has unused limits/facilities with the National Australia Bank and Citibank.  At balance date, 

the Group has available approximately $81,117 of unused credit facilities available for its immediate 
use (2010: $99,282) 

Interest Rate Risk 
 

The Group's exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's cash on hand and short 
term deposits which are subject to varying interest rates. 

 

At balance date the Group had the following mix of financial assets exposed to Australian variable 

interest rate risk  
 

 

Consolidated  

 

2011 2010 

 

$ $ 

Financial Assets 

  
Cash at bank and in hand 

                  

1,577,093  

                     

664,218  

Short-term deposits   1,729,469  

 

2,428,219 

Net exposure  

                  

3,306,562  

                  

3,092,437 

 

  

If interest rates were to increase/decrease by 1%/(0.5%) from rates used to determine fair values as at 
30 June 2011, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the 

impact on profit for the year and equity is as follows: 
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Post Tax Profit 

 
Equity 

 
Higher/(Lower) 

 
Higher/(Lower) 

 
2011 2010 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

 
$ $ 

Consolidated 

     Increase 1% 33,066  30,924  

 

33,066  30,924  

Decrease 0.5% (16,533) (15,462) 

 

(16,533) (15,462) 

 

 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND 

ASSUMPTIONS 

 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 

evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue 

and expenses. Management bases its judgments and estimates on historical experience and on other 

factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. 

 
Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgments, 

estimates and assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 

assumptions and conditions and may materially affect financial results or the financial position 
reported in future periods. 

 

Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes 

to the financial statements. 
 

(i) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions  

 
Recovery of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and tax losses as 

management considers that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and tax losses. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill 

The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific 
to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These include product 

performance, technology, economic and political environments and future product expectations. If an 

impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves value in 
use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 

 

Impairment of intangibles with indefinite useful lives 

The Group determines whether intangibles with indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an 
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to 

which the goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are allocated.  No impairment loss was 

recognised during the current year. The assumptions used in this estimation of recoverable amount 
and the carrying amount of intangibles with indefinite useful lives are discussed in note 16. 
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Share-based payment transactions 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined 

using a binomial model, with the assumptions detailed in note 26. The accounting estimates and 

assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact expenses and 
equity. 

 

Long service leave provision 
As discussed in note 2(l), the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present 

value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at balance date.  

 
Estimation of useful lives of assets 

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience. In addition, the 

condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining useful 

life. Adjustments to useful life are made when considered necessary. Depreciation charges are 
included in note 8. 

 

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

 
Identification of reportable segments 
 

The consolidated entity has two reportable segments as described below: 

 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 
used by the executive management team (deemed the chief operating decision maker) in assessing 

performance and in determining the allocation of resources. 

 
The operating segments are identified by management based on the nature of the services provided 

(i.e. cognitive testing and Axon Sport joint venture). Discrete financial information is reported to the 

executive management team on at least a monthly basis. 

 
The reportable segments are determined by the services provided (i.e. cognitive testing and Axon 

Sports joint venture), as these are the source of the Group’s major risks and have the most effect on 

the rates of return. 
 

Types of services  

 
CogState’s first operating segment is cognitive testing in clinical trials.  In this market, CogState’s 

technology and associated services are used to quantify the effect of disease and of drugs, devices or 

other interventions on human subjects participating in clinical trials primarily conducted by 

pharmaceutical, and biotechnology companies.  
  

The other operating segment is the Axon Sports joint venture.  In this market, the technology and 

associated services are used to provide concussion management tools in sport. 
 

Other markets CogState is involved in include, work safety and research projects, however, none of 

these markets are currently significant to CogState's results and are not reported as separate operating 
segments.  
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Although cognitive testing is conducted in different geographic regions, none have been determined 

as operating or reporting segments as often the geographic source of the revenue can differ to the 
geographic source of the costs for the same project.  Therefore management currently review internal 

reports based on worldwide revenue and results. 

 

Accounting policies and inter-segment transactions 
 

The accounting policies used by the Group in reporting segments internally are the same as those 

contained in note 2 to the accounts and in the prior period. 
 

It is the Group’s policy that if items of revenue and expense are not allocated to operating segments 

then any associated assets and liabilities are also not allocated to segments. This is to avoid 
asymmetrical allocations within segments which management believe would be inconsistent. 

 

The following items and associated assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as 

they are not considered part of the core operations of any segment: 

 Fair value gain/loss on derivative 

 Interest revenue 

 Finance costs 

 Contract termination fees 

 Foreign exchange gain/loss 

 Profit/loss on disposal of assets 

 

The following table’s present revenue and profit information regarding the segments of cognitive 

testing and Sport for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010. 
 

 

Cognitive 

Testing 

Axon 

Sport 

Unallocated 

items Total 

Year ended 30 June 2011 

    

     Revenue 

    Sales to external customers   8,133,258            -                             -    8,133,258  

Other revenue                         -              -                             -                -    

Total segment revenue            8,133,258  

  

8,133,258  

     Interest revenue                         -              -                    114,802   114,802  

Total revenue per statement of comprehensive 

income       
 

8,248,060 

     Operating profit (91,871)  -                  114,802 22,931 

Non-operating termination fees -  -  (126,240) (126,240) 

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) realised and unrealised - - (203,272) (203,272) 

Profit on disposal of assets -  -  (8,490) (8,490) 

Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative - - 56,018 56,018 

Share of loss in JV                         -    (625,642)                          -    (625,642) 

Finance costs  -  - (33,706) (33,706) 

Segment result (91,871) (625,642) (274,100) (918,401) 

Profit/(loss) before tax per statement of 

comprehensive income 

   

(918,401) 
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Cognitive 

Testing 

Axon 

Sport 

Unallocated 

items Total 

Year ended 30 June 2010* 

    

     Revenue 

    
Sales to external customers 

             
9,484,958            -                             -     9,484,958  

Other revenue                         -              -                    160,907    160,907  

Total segment revenue  9,484,958 - - 9,484,958 

     Fair value gain on derivatives                         -              -                             -                -    

Interest revenue                         -              -                    101,389   101,389  

Total revenue per statement of comprehensive 

income        9,586,347  

     Operating profit 571,023  -                  262,296  833,319 

Non-operating termination fees  -   -  (303,854) (303,854) 

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) realised and unrealised  -   -  (79,345) (79,345) 

Profit on disposal of assets  -   -  9,318 9,318 

Fair value loss on derivatives  -   -  (27,152) (27,152) 

Share of loss in JV                         -    (21,793)                          -    (21,793) 

Finance costs  - -  (30,599) (30,599) 

Segment result 571,023 (21,793) (169,336) 379,894 

P/L before tax per statement of comprehensive 

income 

   

379,894 

 

*This has been restated to be consistent with the current year disclosure of business segments. 

 

6. REVENUE 

 

Consolidated 

 

2011 2010 

 

$ $ 

Revenue 

  Sale of services 7,939,218 9,264,313 

Sale of tests 194,040 220,645 

Total Sales revenue 8,133,258 9,484,958 

Interest income 114,802 101,389 

Total revenue 8,248,060 9,586,347 
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7. OTHER INCOME 

 

 

 Consolidated 

 

 2011 2010 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

  Other income  

  Government grants  - 160,907 

Profit on disposal of assets  - 9,318 

Fair value gain on derivative  56,018 - 

 

 56,018 170,225 

 
 

Government grants have been received for assistance in marketing the product to export markets. 

There are no unfulfilled conditions and contingencies attaching to these grants. 

 

8. EXPENSES 

  

Consolidated 

  

2011 2010 

  

$ $ 

(a) Cost of Sales 

  

 

Direct project costs (357,715) (700,917) 

 

Direct employment expenses - salary & wages (2,226,426) (1,958,887) 

 

Direct bonuses (103,141) (101,752) 

 

Direct defined contributions plan expense (103,660) (86,730) 

 

Direct contractors (82,137) (81,175) 

 

Direct depreciation (369,946) (393,704) 

 

Direct travel (12,335) (232,632) 

 

Direct freight (171,045) (185,441) 

 

Direct expenses – other pass through costs (326,626) (137,724) 

  

(3,753,030) (3,878,962) 

    

    (b) Finance costs 

  

 

Finance charges paid on banking facilities (22,643) (24,637) 

 

Interest Expense (11,063) (5,962) 

 

Fair value loss on derivative                  -    (27,152) 

  

(33,706) (57,751) 
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(c) Depreciation and amortisation included in profit or loss 

  

 

Direct depreciation expense included in Cost of Sales 
  

 

Direct depreciation (369,946) (393,704) 

    

 

Other indirect depreciation expenses 

  

 

Depreciation and amortisation expense (53,308) (39,173) 

  

    

 

Total depreciation and amortisation expenses (423,254) (432,877) 

    (d) Rental outgoing and relocation expenses 

  

 

Minimum Lease payments (242,979) (164,518) 

 

Outgoings  (36,794) (51,556) 

  

(279,773) (216,074) 

 

   (e) Employee benefits expense 
  

 

Employment expenses included in Cost of Sales 

  

 

Direct wages & salaries (2,226,426) (1,958,887) 

 

Other direct wages expenses (288,937) (269,657) 

  
(2,515,363) (2,228,544) 

    

 

Other indirect employment expenses 

  

    

 

Wages and Salaries (2,293,802) (2,211,720) 

 

Other indirect wages expenses (201,061) (250,566) 

 

Share based payment expense (170,904) (341,044) 

  

(2,665,767) (2,803,330) 

  

    

 

Total employee benefits expense (5,181,131) (5,031,874) 

     

 

(f) Other expenses 

  

    

 

Net loss on disposal of fixed assets (8,490) - 

 

   (g)   Contract termination fees 

  

   Contract termination fees (126,240) (303,854) 
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These fees were incurred as a consequence of the termination of an outsourced project management 

contract and were payable by CogState to a supplier of contract management services.  These fees 
were incurred outside of the normal operating activities of the Company. 

 

Further contract termination fees arising from this matter are expected to be payable from future 

contracted revenues.  The presently estimated amounts of these payments are 
 

Year ending 30 June 2012: $30,000 

 

Refer Note 27(c) for further details. 

 

9. INCOME TAX 

  

Consolidated 

  

2011 2010 

  

$ $ 

 
The major components of the income tax expense/(benefit) are: 

 

    (a) Income tax expense 

  

 

Current income tax 

  

 
Current income tax charge                - 

               

83,998  

 

Income tax payable/(recoverable) for prior year (1,682) (6,839) 

    

 

Deferred Income tax 

  

 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary 

differences (70,513) (33,361) 

 

Relating to the recognition of tax losses - (1,301,519) 

 

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the statement of 
comprehensive income (72,195) (1,257,721) 

  

    

(b) Amounts charged or credited directly to equity 

  

    

 

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity 

 

    

 

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in equity                      -                        -    
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(c) Numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax expense recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income and tax expense calculated per the statutory income tax rate 

    

 
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit  

 

 

before income tax multiplied by the Group's applicable income tax rate is as follows: 

 

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax  (918,402) 379,894 

  

    

 

At the parent entity's statutory income tax rate of 30% (2010 
30%) (275,520) 113,968 

 

Income tax payable/(recoverable) for prior year (1,682) (6,839) 

 

Expenditure not deductible for income tax purposes 40,677 89,660 

 

Tax losses (recognised)/unrecognised  251,703 (1,440,568) 

 

Recognition of net deferred tax asset/liability (70,513) (33,361) 

 

Foreign tax rate adjustment and other translation adjustments (16,860) 19,419 

    

 

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in thestatement of 

comprehensive Income (72,195) (1,257,721) 

 

  

Statement of financial 

position 

 

Statement of 

comprehensive income 

  

2011 2010 

 
2011 2010 

  

$ $ 

 
$ $ 

(d) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

     

 
Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following: 

     

       

 
Deferred tax liabilities 

     

 

Accrued interest income (10,528) (8,310) 

 

(2,818) (3,919) 

 
Unrealised foreign exchange gain 63 (12,480) 

 
12,542 (11,538) 

       

  

(10,465) (20,790) 

   

 
Deferred tax assets 

     

 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss 

                              

20,657 

                              

-    

 
20,657 (10,373) 

 

Provision for doubtful debts - 162 

 

(162) (1,161) 

 
Employment benefits 155,113 133,172 

 
21,941 44,096 

 

Accrued interest expense - 1,106 

 

(1,106) 1,106 

 
Accrued expenses 39,306 21,571 

 
17,735 14,585 

 

Less unrecognised deferred tax asset 
                              

-    

                              

-    

 

                       

-    

                       

-    

 

Unused tax losses 1,301,519 1,301,519 

 

- 1,301,519 

 

Foreign exchange movement on opening deferred tax 

balances - - 

 

1,124 565 

       

 

Deferred tax income/(expense) 

           

1,516,595 

           

1,457,530  

 

70,513 1,334,880 
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     (e) Benefit of income tax losses not brought to account 

 

  

Consolidated 

  

2011 2010 

  

$ $ 

    

 

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 1,919,449 
        

1,214,961  

 

Potential asset calculated at 30% - Australian losses 505,101 

           

364,488  

 

Potential asset calculated at 35% - US losses 199,387 - 

 

 
 

The benefit will only be obtained if: 
 

a) The company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable 

the benefits from the deductions for the losses to be realised;  

Based on the profitable second half of financial year 2011 and our knowledge of future events 
including contracted and forecast sales this supports our view of sufficient future taxable profits 

being available to offset our unused tax losses. 

b) The company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and  
c) No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the company in realising the benefit from the 

deductions for the losses. 
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10. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to 

ordinary equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year. 

 

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the 

dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 

computations: 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders   

 

(846,206) 1,637,615 

   

 
2011 2010 

 
Number Number 

   Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings 

per share 66,532,904 65,938,466 

 
Effect of Dilution  

Share options - 3,440,508 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the 
effect of dilution  

 
66,532,904 

 
69,378,974 
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11. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
 

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and six months, depending on 

the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit 

rates and certificates of deposit used to secure the Group’s credit card facilities and other deposits 
with a maturity of greater than three months. Despite their maturity term these deposits are readily 

convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
The fair value of cash, cash equivalents and short term deposits is $3,306,562 (2010: $3,092,436). 

 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

   Cash at bank and in hand 1,577,093 664,218 

Short-term deposits 1,729,469 2,428,219 

Total cash and short term deposits 3,306,562 3,092,437 

   

   Reconciliation to Statement of Cash Flows 
  

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash flows, cash, cash equivalents 

and short term deposits comprise the following at 30 June: 
 

   Cash at bank and in hand  1,577,093 664,218 

Short-term deposits 1,729,469 2,428,219 

 

3,306,562 3,092,437 
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12. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

   

Trade receivables 

              

1,202,760  

              

1,624,012  

Allowance for impairment loss (a)                          -    (541) 

 

1,202,760 1,623,471 

 

(a)  Allowance for impairment loss 
 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms. A provision for 

impairment loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is 
impaired. No impairment loss (2010: $541) has been recognised by the consolidated group in the 

current year.  

 

Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows: 
 

 
Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

At 1 July       (541) (4,410) 

Charge for the year - (541) 

Amounts recovered (provision written back) 541 4,410 

At 30 June  - (541) 

 
 

At 30 June 2011 the aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

 

  

0-30 31-60  61-90 61-90 +90 +90 

  
days days days days days days 

    

PDNI* CI+ PDNI* CI+ 

2011 Consolidated 1,121,678  57,227  23,855  

            

-                 -               - 

2010 Consolidated 

     

1,614,427         8,464             -    

          

-    

            

440            541  

 
 

 
*Past due not impaired (PDNI) 

+Considered impaired (CI) 

 
Receivables past due but not considered impaired are: Consolidated $nil (2010: $440). Other 

balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is 

expected that these other balances will be received when due. 
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(b) Fair value and credit risk 

 
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their 

fair value. 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as 
security, nor is it the Group's policy to transfer (on-sell) receivables to special purpose entities. 

 

(d) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk 

 

Detail regarding foreign exchange and interest rate risk exposure is disclosed in note 3. 

 

13. CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

 

 

Consolidated 

 

2011 2010 

 

$ $ 

   Accrued income 71,167 157,466 

Prepayments 41,251 59,350 

Deposits paid 7,342 35,942 

GST receivable 4,672 10,196 

Income tax receivable 73,367 2,410 

Deferred expenses 183,465 5,274 

Total other assets 381,264 270,639 
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14. NON CURRENT ASSETS- INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 

 
In May 2010 CogState formed a joint venture company Axon Sports LLC in partnership with 

Quixote Investments LLC, a Portland Oregon based investment group.   

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

   (a) Investment details 

  Unlisted 
  

Axon Sports LLC 

 

         115,536 562,719  

   

   (b) Movement in carrying amount of the Group's investment in Axon Sports LLC 

   

   At 1 July 562,719 - 

Initial investment in Axon Sports LLC -    584,512  

Additional investment in Axon Sports LLC          251,671 - 

Share of losses (625,642) (21,793) 

FX movements in valuation (73,212) - 

At 30 June 115,536 562,719 

   (c) Summarised financial information 
  

   Extract from Axon Sports LLC's statement of financial position 
 

   
Current assets          292,480  

     
1,158,726  

Non-current assets            74,132        17,256  

 

         366,612  1,175,982  

Current liabilities (85,116) (51,055) 

Non-current liabilities (50,424)                 -    

 

(135,540) (51,055) 

Net assets          231,072  1,124,927  

   Share of Axon Sports LLC net assets          115,536     562,463 

   Extract from Axon Sports LLC's statement of comprehensive income 

 Revenue           147,414                 -    

Expenses (1,398,698) (43,586) 

Comprehensive income (1,251,284) (43,586) 

 
There are no contingent liabilities relating to Axon Sports LLC. 
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15. NON CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 

Consolidated 

Office Furniture and Equipment $ 

Year ended 30 June 2011  

At 1 July 2010,  net of accumulated depreciation 1,235,907 

Additions 103,884 

Disposals (11,497) 

Depreciation charge for the year (423,254) 

At 30 June 2011, net of accumulated depreciation 905,040 

 

 

At 1 July 2010  

Cost or fair value 2,211,070 

Accumulated depreciation (975,163) 

Net Carrying amount 1,235,907 

 

 

At 30 June 2011  

Cost or fair value 2,249,315 

Accumulated depreciation (1,344,275) 

Net Carrying amount 905,040 

 

 

Office Furniture and Equipment  

Year ended 30 June 2010  

At 1 July 2009,  net of accumulated depreciation 698,061 

Additions 985,729 

Disposals (15,006) 

Depreciation charge for the year (432,877) 

At 30 June 2010, net of accumulated depreciation 1,235,907 

 

 

At 1 July 2009  

Cost or fair value 1,274,207 

Accumulated depreciation (576,146) 

Net Carrying amount 698,061 

 

 

At 30 June 2010  

Cost or fair value 2,211,070 

Accumulated depreciation (975,163) 

Net Carrying amount 1,235,907 
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16. NON CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period 

 

 

Consolidated 

Intellectual Property $ 

  Year ended 30 June 2011 

 At 1 July 2010 401,584 

Additions - purchased intellectual property                    -    

At 30 June 2011 401,584 

  Year ended 30 June 2010 

 At 1 July 2009 401,584 

Additions - purchased intellectual property                    -    

At 30 June 2010 401,584 

 

 

(b) Description of the Group's intangible assets 

(i) Intellectual Property 

Intangible assets include acquired intellectual property rights over key business technologies and 

processes. These intangible assets have been determined to have indefinite useful lives and the cost 
model is utilised for their measurement. These technologies form the basis of the CogState business 

and this fact has allowed the Group to determine that these assets have an indefinite useful life. If an 

impairment indication arises, the recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment loss is 

recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. 
 

(c) Impairment losses recognised 

(i) Continuing Operations  
 

These assets were tested for impairment during the year ended 30 June 2011. No impairment loss was 

recognised for operations in the 2011 financial year. 

 

(d) Impairment tests for intangibles with indefinite useful life 

Acquired intellectual property rights have been allocated to one individual cash generating unit, 

which is a reportable segment, for impairment testing as follows: 
 

• Cognitive testing cash generating unit; 

 
Cognitive testing cash generating unit 

The recoverable amount of the Cognitive testing unit has been determined based on a value in use 

calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior management 

covering a three year period and a terminal growth rate of 3%. 
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Key assumptions used in value in use calculations for the Cognitive testing cash generating unit 

for 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010. 

 

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow 

projections when determining the value in use of the Cognitive testing cash generatingunit. 

 
Budgeted gross sales – the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross sales is 

the contracted sales for the coming periods taken at the date of the budget formulation, increased for 

expected new contractual agreements. Thus, values assigned to gross sales reflect past experience, 
except for new contractual agreements, which are estimated at approximately the same level as the 

most recent financial year, over half of which, for the next financial year, are being tendered for. 

 
Budgeted operating expenses - the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted 

operating expenses is the level of the most recent financial year increased on average by the 

consumer price index plus one percentage point. Thus, values assigned to operating expenses reflect 

past experience, whilst allowing for general price rises and additional costs necessary for a Group in 
a growth phase.  

 

The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 20%.The cash generating unit’s 
recoverable amount exceeds the carrying value of its intangible assets.  It is not considered a 

reasonable possibility for a change in assumptions to occur that would lead to a unit’s recoverable 

amount falling below the carrying value of the unit’s intangible assets. 
 

17. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

   Trade payables (a) 82,667 155,777 

 

Other Payables  
Employee related payables 297,982 310,268 

Accrued Payables 616,578 300,293 

Revenue in advance (b) 30,343 365,119 

 

944,903 975,680 

 

(a) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 

 

(b) Revenue in advance 
 

Revenue in advance represents amounts that have been invoiced and paid during the year but which 

have not been recorded as revenue during the year because of obligations under the particular sales 
contracts that have not been performed at year end. 

 

(c) Fair value 

 
Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their 

fair value.  
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18. PROVISIONS 

 

Consolidated 

 

Annual 

Leave 

Long 

Service 

Leave Total 

At 1 July 2010 287,539 156,391 443,930 

Arising during the year 293,069 34,929 327,998 

Utilised (254,887)              -    (254,887) 

At 30 June 2011 325,721 191,320 517,041 

    

    

Current 2011 

     

325,721  166,627 492,348 

Non-current 2011              -    24,693 24,693 

 

325,721 191,320 517,041 

    
Current 2010 

     
287,539  118,384 405,923 

Non-current 2010              -    38,007 38,007 

 
287,539 156,391 443,930 
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19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

Current Assets (Liabilities) 

  Forward currency contracts  28,866 (27,152) 

 

28,866 (27,152) 

 
 

a) Instruments used by the group 
 
 

Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group in order to mitigate exposure to fluctuations 

in foreign currency rates. 
 

The group uses level 1 method in estimating fair value of financial instrument (the fair value is 

calculated using quoted prices in active markets). 

 
(i) Forward currency contracts  

 

Approximately 99% of the Group’s sales are denominated in US Dollars, whilst approximately 75% 
of costs are denominated in AU Dollars.  In order to protect against exchange rate movements, the 

Group has entered into forward currency contracts to sell US dollars. These contracts are hedging 

future transfers from US Dollars to AU dollars for working capital requirements and they are timed to 
mature monthly when its estimated AU Dollars will be needed. 

 

At balance date, the details of outstanding contracts are: 

 

 

Amounts 

 

Average exchange 

rates 

 

2011 2010 
 

2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

   

      Sell US$ maturity 3-15 months - consolidated 100,000 1,200,000 
 

0.8420 0.8420 

Sell US$ maturity 3-15 months - consolidated 600,000 - 
 

1.0695 - 

 

700,000 1,200,000 
 

1.0370 0.8420 

 

Due to the uncertainty in determining the forward contracts effectiveness, the movements in the fair 

value of the forward contracts is recorded in profit or loss. 
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20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

 

b) Ordinary Shares 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

Ordinary Shares 14,333,818 14,303,130 

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to 

dividends. 

  

   

 
Number $ 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue 
  At 1 July 2009 65,643,086 14,197,010 

Exercise of options 709,831 106,120 

At 30 June 2010 66,352,917 14,303,130 

   At 1 July 2010 66,352,917 14,303.130 

Exercise of options 204,070 30,688 

At 30 June 2011 66,556,987 14,333,818 

 

 
c) Capital management 

 
When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern 

as well as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

Management also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available 

to the entity. 
 

The Board has resolved that no dividend should be declared in respect of the year ended 30 June 

2011. 

 
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.  
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21. RETAINED EARNINGS AND RESERVES 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

Retained earnings 

  Movement in retained earnings were as follows: 
  Balance 1 July 2010 (8,559,074) (10,196,689) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year (846,206) 1,637,615 

Balance 30 June 2011 (9,405,280) (8,559,074) 

   Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

  Movement in reserves were as follows: 

  Balance 1 July 2010 - - 

FX movements in valuation  (73,212) - 

Balance 30 June 2011 (73,212) - 

   Share Option Reserve 

  Movement in reserves were as follows: 

  Balance 1 July 2010 1,276,901 935,857 

Share based payments 170,904 341,044 

Balance 30 June 2011 1,447,805 1,276,901 

   Employees 1,297,504 1,081,154 

Non-employees 150,301 195,747 

 
1,447,805 1,276,901 

 

Foreign Currency Translation reserve 

This reserve is used to record the unrealised exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign 

joint venture and is not distributable.   

Share Option reserve 

This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided in a share based payment 
transaction to employees and directors as part of their remuneration. Refer to note 26 for further 

details of these plans. 

 

Management have also granted options as compensation to an external consultant based in the US in 
recognition of his services to the company.  
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22. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

 
 2011 2010 

Information relating to CogState Ltd: $ $ 

Current assets  6,789,586 6,680,034 

Total assets  8,051,838 8,260,990 

Current liabilities  1,523,162 1,608,236 

Total liabilities  1,523,162 1,608,236 

Issued capital  14,303,130 14,303,130 

Retained earnings (9,040,530) (8,775,755) 

Share based payment reserve 1,235,386 1,125,377 

Total shareholders’ equity  6,497,985 6,652,752 

Profit or loss of the parent entity (264,776) 1,617,993 

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity (264,776) 1,617,993 

   

Guarantee entered into by the parent entity in relation to lease of premises 88,784 88,784 

Contractual commitments in relation to commercial leases 688,155 787,564 
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23. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

Consolidated 

 

2011 2010 

 

$ $ 

Reconciliation of Net Profit/loss after tax to net cash flows from operations 
 

   

Net profit/(loss) (846,207) 

 

1,637,615 

   Adjustments for: 
  Depreciation 423,254 432,877 

Written down value of disposed plant and equipment 8,491 (8,815) 

Net exchange differences 86,716 58,269 

Share options expensed 170,904 341,044 

Interest Received (112,515) (82,991) 

Fair value of derivatives (56,018) 27,152 

Axon Sports JV 625,642 - 

   Change in assets and liabilities  

  (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 420,711 522,555 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 18,099 (30,753) 

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (59,062) (1,349,773) 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets (57,768) (148,188) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (103,889) (118,411) 

Increase/(decrease) in income tax payable (70,956) (38,369) 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (10,325) 15,457 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 73,111 151,178 

Net cash used in operating activities 510,188 1,408,847 
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24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 

 

(a) Subsidiaries 

 
Country of 

Incorporation 

% Equity Interest 

 

Investments ($) 

Name 2011 2010 

 

2011 2010 

CogState Inc. USA 100% 100% 

 

13 13 

CogState Sport Inc. USA 100% 100% 

 

115,536 562,719 

 

 

(b) Ultimate parent 

CogState Limited is the ultimate parent of the group. 

 
(c) Jointly controlled entity 
The Group has a 50% interest in Axon Sports LLC (2010: 50%), which will distribute the CogState 

Sport product in the US. 

 

(d) Loans to subsidiaries 
On 3 August 2006 CogState Inc. received a loan of up to $1,000,000 from the ultimate parent 

company CogState Limited for working capital purposes at an interest rate of 8%, payable annually.  
CogState Limited may call on this loan at any time, by giving 30 days’ notice to CogState Inc., and 

require them to repay the whole, or part of the remaining balance.  The maximum term of the loan 

ends on 2 August 2016. 
 

On 17 June 2010 CogState Sport Inc. received a loan from CogState Inc. for the investment in Axon 

Sports LLC at an interest rate of 4.4%, payable annually.  CogState Inc. may call on this loan at any 
time, by giving 30 days’ notice to CogState Sport Inc., and require them to repay the whole, or part of 

the remaining balance.   

 

On 15 January 2011 CogState Sport Inc. received a further loan from CogState Inc. for the 
investment in Axon Sports LLC at an interest rate of 4.4%, payable annually.  CogState Inc. may call 

on this loan at any time, by giving 30 days’ notice to CogState Sport Inc., and require them to repay 

the whole, or part of the remaining balance.   
 

 

(e) Director-related entity transactions 
Directors of the Company and their director-related entities, conduct transactions with the  

Company within a normal employee, customer or supplier relationship on terms and conditions no 
more favourable than those with which it is reasonable to expect the Company would have adopted if 

dealing with a director or director-related entity at arm’s length in similar circumstances.   
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25. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

 

(a) Compensation by category: Key Management Personnel 

 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

Short Term 1,390,120 1,431,681 

Post Employment 117,126 98,513 

Other Long-Term 16,224  - 

Termination Benefits 127,984  -  

Share-based Payment 235,417 250,500 

 

1,656,039 1,780,694 

 
 

The fair value of options granted as part of director and executive remuneration have been calculated 

using a Binomial option pricing model, which takes account of factors including the option exercise 
price, the current level and volatility of the underlying share price, the risk free interest rate, expected 

dividends on the underlying share, current market price of the underlying share and the expected life 

of the option. 
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(b) Option holdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated) 

 
  

Balance at 
beginning 
of period 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised Forfeitures 

Balance at 
end of 
period Vested at 30 June 2011 

  

1-Jul-10       30-Jun-11 Total 

Subject 
to 

Escrow Exercisable 
Not 

Exercisable 

Directors                   

M Myer* 1,835,262 100,000 - (428,588) 1,506,674 1,346,118 - 1,346,118 - 

R Morgan 415,000 50,000 - (100,000) 365,000 254,444 - 254,444 - 

D Simpson 415,000 50,000 - (100,000) 365,000 254,444 - 254,444 - 

M Wooldridge 415,000 50,000 - (100,000) 365,000 254,444 - 254,444 - 

R van den 

Broek 

                     

-    100,000 -  -  100,000 -   - - 

B O’Connor 2,270,000 150,000 - - 2,420,000 1,238,056 - 1,238,056 - 

                    

                    

Executives                   

P Maruff 2,268,153 150,000 - (75,641) 2,342,512 2,066,956 - 2,066,956 - 

D Darby 719,551 75,000 - - 794,551 652,884 - 652,884 - 

S Egholm 650,000 75,000 - - 725,000 469,444 - 469,444 - 

J Harrison 477,851 100,000 - - 577,851 

       

400,907  - 400,907 - 

Total 9,465,817 900,000 

                   

-    (804,229) 9,561,588 6,937,697 

                 

-    6,937,697 

                 

-    

            
Balance at 
beginning 
of period 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Options 
Exercised Forfeitures 

Balance at 
end of 
period Vested at 30 June 2010 

  

1-Jul-09       30-Jun-10 Total 

Subject 
to 

Escrow Exercisable 

Not 

Exercisable 

Directors                   

M Myer * 1,735,262 100,000 - - 1,835,262 1,670,818 - 1,670,818 - 

R Morgan 315,000 100,000 - - 415,000 250,556 - 250,556 - 

D Simpson 315,000 100,000 - - 415,000 250,556 - 250,556 - 

M Wooldridge 315,000 100,000 - - 415,000 250,556 - 250,556 - 

B O’Connor 1,970,000 300,000 - - 2,270,000 1,314,028 - 1,314,028 - 

                    

                    

Executives                   

P Maruff 2,268,153 -  - - 2,268,153 1,775,375 - 1,775,375 - 

D Darby 719,551 -  - - 719,551 469,551 - 469,551 - 

S Egholm 650,000 -  -  - 650,000 252,778 - 252,778 - 

J Harrison 1,052,265  - (574,414) - 477,851 

       

104,974  - 104,974 - 

Total 9,340,231 700,000 (574,414) 

                   

-    9,465,817 6,339,192 

                 

-    6,339,192 

                 

-    

 

 

* Of total option holding 1,080,150 are Investor Options issued in conjunction with capital raisings. 
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(c) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel (Consolidated) 

 
  Balance Granted as Remuneration Acquired 

via Rights 

issue 

Acquired 

On-Market 

Balance 

  1-Jul-10 Vested Not 

Vested 

Forfeited     30-Jun-11 

Directors               

M Myer 13,010,000 - - - -  - 13,010,000 

R Morgan 323,513 - - - - - 323,513 

D Simpson  607,538 - - - - - 607,538 

M Wooldridge 120,743 - - - - - 120,743 

B O’Connor 2,457,825 - - - -  - 2,457,825 

R van den Broek 3,320,000 - - - -  - 3,320,000 

                

Executives               

D Darby 1,954,890 - - - -   1,954,890 

 

 
  Balance Granted as Remuneration Acquired 

via Rights 

issue 

Acquired 

On-Market 

Balance 

  1-Jul-09 Vested Not 

Vested 

Forfeited     30-Jun-10 

Directors               

M Myer 12,500,000 - - - -  510,000  13,010,000 

R Morgan 323,513 - - - - - 323,513 

D Simpson  607,538 - - - - - 607,538 

M Wooldridge 120,743 - - - - - 120,743 

B O’Connor 416,158 - - - -  2,041,667  2,457,825 

                

Executives               

D Darby 1,954,890 - - - -   1,954,890 
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26. SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLANS 

 
(a) Recognised Share Based Payments Expenses 

 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

   
Expense arising from equity settled share-based 
payment expenses 170,904 341,044 

 

 

 

(b) Non-Executive Director and Employee Share Option Plans, ‘ESOP’ 

 

An employee share scheme has been established where CogState Limited may, at the discretion of 

the Board, grant options over the ordinary shares of CogState Limited to executives and certain 
members of staff of the Group, and to directors, subject to shareholder approval in required 

circumstances.  The options, issued for nil consideration directly to employees, are granted in 

accordance with guidelines established by the directors of CogState Limited, with a recommendation 
from the management of CogState Limited, although the directors retain the final discretion on the 

issue of options. From 2009, the options are issued for a period of 5 years.  The previous existing 

plan issued options for a period of 10 years. 

 
In most cases, one third of the options are exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of the grant.  

The remaining two thirds of the options are exercisable after the following 24 months.  In respect of 

options issued to Mr Brad O'Connor, Chief Executive Officer and approved by an Extraordinary 
Meeting of Shareholders on 22 February 2006, the following additional vesting conditions apply: 

 

50% of the options can be exercised by Mr O’Connor when the share price of the Company's ordinary 

shares reaches $0.30 and for a period of at least one calendar month after the share price has reached 

$0.30, the average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares is at least $0.30 and the remaining 

50% of the options can be exercised when the share price of the Company's ordinary shares reaches 

$0.40 and for a period of at least one calendar month after the share price has reached $0.40, the 

average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares is at least $0.40 
 

The options cannot be transferred and will not be quoted on the ASX.  There are no cash settlement 

alternatives.  There are currently 4 directors and 32 executives/staff eligible for this scheme. 
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(c) Summaries of options granted under ESOP 
 
The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of 

and movement in share options issued during the year: 

 

 

2011 2011 2010 2010 

 

No. WAEP No. WAEP 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 10,845,699 $0.19 10,810,530 $0.19 

Granted during the year 1,225,000 $0.25 775,000 $0.25 

Forfeited during the year (45,930) $0.10 (30,000) $0.24 

Exercised during the year   (204,070) $0.15 (709,831) $0.15 

Expired during the year    (804,229) $0.43 - - 

Outstanding at the end of the year 11,016,470 $0.19 10,845,699 $0.19 

 

The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2011 is represented by 

Number of options Grant Date 

Vesting 

Date 

Expiry 

Date 

Exercise 

Price 

75,640 30-Jan-02 30-Jan-05 30-Jan-12 $0.3600 

42,022 14-May-03 13-May-06 13-May-13 $0.3600 

63,034 1-Aug-03 31-Jul-06 31-Jul-13 $0.3800 

81,524 3-Nov-03 02-Nov-06 02-Nov-13 $0.3800 

331,978 28-Jan-04 27-Jan-07 27-Jan-14 $0.3800 

676,966 18-May-04 18-May-07 18-May-14 $0.2800 

138,750 15-Oct-04 15-Oct-07 15-Oct-14 $0.2400 

68,750 15-Jan-05 15-Jan-08 15-Jan-15 $0.1900 

407,872 30-May-05 30-May-08 30-May-15 $0.1000 

                                                    847,500  1-Dec-05 01-Dec-08 01-Dec-15 $0.1150 

150,000 19-Jan-06 26-May-09 19-Jan-16 $0.1150 

                                                    175,000  26-May-06 26-May-09 26-May-16 $0.2800 

                                                    550,000  17-May-07 17-May-10 17-May-17 $0.2100 

250,000 9-Aug-07 08-Aug-10 08-Aug-17 $0.1700 

250,000 26-Oct-07 25-Oct-10 25-Oct-17 $0.1700 

185,351 13-Dec-07 08-Aug-10 12-Dec-17 $0.1700 

1,377,083 1-Jul-08 05-Aug-11 05-Aug-18 $0.1027 

500,000 6-Oct-08 23-Oct-11 23-Oct-18 $0.1500 

1,040,000 24-Oct-08 24-Oct-11 23-Oct-18 $0.1027 

650,000 30-Apr-09 30-Apr-12 30-Apr-19 $0.2000 

1,155,000 29-Jun-09 26-Jun-12 26-Jun-14 $0.2400 

700,000 30-Oct-09 30-Oct-12 30-Oct-14 $0.2400 

50,000 9-Mar-10 09-Mar-13 09-Mar-15 $0.3000 

25,000 31-Mar-10 31-Mar-13 31-Mar-15 $0.2900 

500,000 26-Oct-10 26-Oct-13 26-Oct-15 $0.2500 

550,000 29-Nov-10 29-Nov-13 29-Nov-15 $0.2500 

175,000 7-Dec-10 07-Dec-13 07-Dec-15 $0.2500 

     

11,016,470     
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(d) Weighted average remaining contractual life 
 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 30 June 2011 is 

5years (2010: 6 years). 

 

(e) Range of exercise price 

 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.10-$0.38 (2010: 
$0.10-$0.50). 

 

(f) Weighted average fair value 

 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.1501(2010: $0.1989). 

 

(g) Option pricing model 

 

Equity settled transactions 

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the option plan is estimated as at the 
date of grant using a binomial model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 

options were granted. 

 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 

2010: 

 

 

 

2011 

 26-Oct-10 29-Nov-10 7-Dec-10 

Dividend yield (%) 0 0 0 

Expected volatility (%) 66.88 66.67 66.57 

Risk-free interest rate (%) 5.10% 5.28% 5.40% 

Expected life of option (years) 3.5 3.5 3.5 

Option exercise price ($) 0.25 0.25 0.25 

Market share price at grant date ($) 0.26 0.26 0.25 

 

 

2010 

 30-Oct-09 9-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 

Dividend yield (%) 0 0 0 

Expected volatility (%) 69.91 68.95 68.66 

Risk-free interest rate (%) 5.35% 5.26% 5.51% 

Expected life of option (years) 3.5 3.5 3.5 

Option exercise price ($) 0.24 0.3 0.29 

Weighted average share price at grant date ($) 0.30 0.3 0.29 

 

 

 
 

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of 

exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical 
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No 

other features of options granted were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 
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27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
(a) Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee 
 

The Group has entered into commercial leases on the Group’s premises in Melbourne and New 

Haven, as well as some items of plant and equipment. These leases have an average life of up to 6 
years with renewal options included in the contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee 

by entering into these leases. 

 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows: 
 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 

$ $ 

   Within one year 249,297 188,575 

After one year but no more than five years 825,356 1,066,262 

More than five years          33,954     141,879  

 

1,108,607 1,396,716 

 

 

(b) Contingent liabilities – Bank guarantee 

 

CogState Limited has a bank guarantee in place for $88,783.75 in respect of the Company’s 

obligations under the lease of premises at Level 2/255 Bourke Street, Melbourne.   

 

 

(c) Contingent liabilities – contract termination fees 
 

The payments of estimated contract termination fees for years ending 30 June 2012, as referred to in 

Note 8(h), are contingent upon services being invoiced by CogState Limited to other parties during 

those financial years under existing sales contracts, which CogState Limited currently expects will 
occur. 
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28. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 

 

 
On 22 August 2011, CogState Limited, via its wholly owned subsidiary, CogState Sport Inc, entered 
into a joint arrangement with Quixote Investments LLC whereby both parties agreed to transfer to 

Axon Sports LLC certain Intellectual Property related to Axon Potential in exchange for additional 

units in Axon Sports.  CogState received an additional 288,000 units with a value of US$144,000 and 
Quixote Investments LLC received an additional 488,000 units with a value of US$244,000. No 

change occurred to the ownership percentage of Axon Sports LLC as a result of this transaction. 

 
On 22 August 2011, CogState Limited, via its wholly owned subsidiary, CogState Sport Inc, acquired 

Quixote Investments LLC’s 50% interest in Axon Sports LLC, taking CogState’s total interest to 

100%. 

 
The total consideration transferred for this transaction was estimated to be $2,537,022, comprised of 

an issue of equity instruments and the fair value on acquisition date of the 50% of Axon Sports LLC 

already owned by CogState.  The Group issued 7,461,831 ordinary shares with a fair value of $0.17 
each, based on the quoted price of the shares of CogState Ltd on the date of exchange. 

 

The attributable costs of the issuance of ordinary shares will be charged directly to equity as negative 

contributed equity. 
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The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Axon Sports LLC as of the date of 

acquisition were: 
 

 
 Fair value  

 
 at acquisition   

 
 date*  

  Cash and cash equivalents          194,913 

Trade receivables (book and fair value)   20,274  

Prepayments             5,946  

Plant and equipment           77,553  

 

        298,687  

  

Trade payables 

               

(31,710)  

Other payables          (43,608)  

Deferred compensation         (52,395)  

 

      (127,712) 

  Provisional fair value of identifiable net assets          170,975 

Goodwill / identifiable intangibles arising on acquisition       2,366,047  

 
      2,537,023  

  Acquisition-date fair-value of consideration transferred 

 Share issued, at fair value, for 50% interest acquired on 22 August 
2011 

           
1,268,511  

Acquisition-date fair-value of initial 50% interest       1,268,511  

Consideration transferred        2,537,023  

 
* The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired as part of the business combination 

have been determined provisionally and are based upon the best information available as initial 

accounting was not complete as at the reporting date. The company acquired the intellectual property 
associated with online sports concussion testing and Axon Potential. The allocation between goodwill 

and intellectual property of the excess consideration paid over the tangible identifiable net assets 

listed above has not been completed due to the close proximity of this transaction to reporting date. 

 
Key factors contributing to goodwill being recognised upon acquisition include:  

-  The 100% control of Axon Sports will allow CogState to utilise the Axon Sports online testing and 

associated materials to pursue the sports concussion markets outside North America.   
 

-  100% control of Axon Sports means that CogState is in a position to take full advantage of current 

opportunities being discussed with large pharmaceutical companies with the aim of making CogState 
technology available to clinicians as a low cost, non-invasive, screening tool that could be provided 

within a clinician’s surgery, in numerous indications, including sports concussions. 
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Additional disclosures which were not practical due to the proximity of transaction date to reporting 

date: 
 Whether any component of the reacquired rights represents an “effective settlement” of Axon 

Sports’ licensing arrangement for use of the CogState name / technology / IP in the United 

States of America 

 As the amount of the indicative consideration may be subject to change (as an effective 
settlement) the amount of goodwill / intangibles may change  

 The consideration will also potentially change the amount of gain on sale of the Axon Sport’s 

equity accounted balance 
 Determination of specific transaction costs 

 Finalise the income tax implications of the business combination. 

29. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

 

The auditor of CogState Limited is Ernst & Young. 

 
Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young (Australia) for: 

 

 

 

Consolidated 

 
2011 2010 

 
$ $ 

    - an audit or review of the financial report of the entity 58,513       52,888  

 - other services in relation to the entity             -           5,150  

 

58,513 58,038 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

 
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 12 August 2011. 

 

A. Distribution of Equity Securities 

 

Numbers of equity security holders by size of holding, for each security type are: 

 

Holding Range Fully paid 

ordinary shares 

 

Options over 

unissued shares 

1 to 1,000 62 

 

0 

1,001 to 5,000 101 

 

0 

5,001 to 10,000 71 

 

3 

10,001 to 100,000 168 

 

10 

100,001 and Over 60 

 

13 

Total 462 

 

26 

 
 

  Holding less than a marketable parcel 109 

   

B. Equity Security Holders 

 

Twenty largest equity security holders 

 
The names of the twenty largest holders of ordinary shares are listed below: 

No. Shareholder Name Quantity % 

1 M F CUSTODIANS LTD 13,010,000 19.37% 

2 GBS VENTURE MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 6,470,868 9.64% 

3 ASIA UNION INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  6,423,619 9.57% 

4 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  3,386,900 5.04% 

5 JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA  LIMITED  3,336,209 4.97% 

6 BETA GAMMA PTY LTD  3,000,000 4.47% 

7 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED  2,962,230 4.41% 

8 DR PETER ANTHONY BICK & MS MELANIE JO GRIBBLE  2,863,924 4.26% 

9 MR BRADLEY JOHN O'CONNOR  2,214,656 3.30% 

10 DALEFORD WAY PTY LTD  1,741,311 2.59% 

11 DR DAVID DARBY & DR BEVERLEY-ANNE RODAN  1,331,514 1.98% 

12 HOWITT NOMINEES PTY LTD  1,000,000 1.49% 

13 ELLAM PARK PTY LTD 876,921 1.31% 

14 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED  683,600 1.02% 

15 A/PROF DAVID GORDON DARBY 623,376 0.93% 

16 

MR DAVID ALEXANDER SIMPSON & MRS DAWN GENTRY 

SIMPSON  607,538 0.90% 

17 MRS ERICA MARGARET STRONG  575,000 0.86% 

18 ASIA UNION INVESTMENTS        PTY LIMITED  556,809 0.83% 

19 MR CAMPBELL DINWOODIE TAYLOR  450,000 0.67% 

20 MR JOHN FARMS SCOBIE  400,000 0.60% 

  52,514,475 78.20% 

 

 

 

C. Unquoted equity securities 
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  Number on 

Issue 

Number of 

Holders 

Options to acquire ordinary shares 4,941,029 5* 

 
Options to acquire ordinary shares, issued under the 

Directors’ and Executives’ Option Plan 11,016,470 22 

  

 * - Includes one holder who also holds options under the Non-Executive Director 

Option Plan 

 

 

D. Substantial Shareholders 

 

Substantial shareholders of ordinary shares in the company are set out below: 

 
 

  Number 

Held 

% 

M F CUSTODIANS LTD 13,010,000 19.37% 

ASIA UNION INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  6,980,428 10.39% 

GBS VENTURE MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 6,470,868 9.64% 

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  3,386,900 5.04% 

 

29,848,196 44.45% 

 
 

 

E. Voting Rights 

 
All ordinary fully paid shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. 

 

Options do not carry a right to vote. 
 

There is no current on market buy back. 

 


